
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Corporate Parenting Board
22 September 2016

Time 5.30 pm Public Meeting? YES Type of meeting Oversight

Venue Committee Room 4 - Civic Centre

Membership
Chair Cllr Val Gibson (Lab)

Labour Conservative

Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Julie Hodgkiss
Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Julie Hodgkiss
Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Peter O'Neill
Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Stephen Simkins
Cllr Martin Waite

Cllr Christine Mills

Quorum for this meeting is three Councillors.

Information for the Public
If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact the democratic support team:

Contact Mike Hooper
Tel/Email Tel: 01902 555046 or mike.hooper@wolverhampton.gov.uk
Address Democratic Support, Civic Centre, 1st floor, St Peter’s Square,

Wolverhampton WV1 1RL

Copies of other agendas and reports are available from:

Website http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk
email democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk 
Tel 01902 555043

Please take note of the protocol for filming, recording and use of social media in meetings, copies of 
which are displayed in the meeting room.

Some items are discussed in private because of their confidential or commercial nature. These reports 
are not available to the public.

http://wolverhampton.moderngov.co.uk/
mailto:democratic.support@wolverhampton.gov.uk


 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Agenda
Part 1 – items open to the press and public
Item No. Title

PART 1 - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

1 Apologies for absence (if any) 

2 Declarations of interests (if any) 

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2016 (Pages 3 - 8)

4 Matters arising 

5 Schedule of outstanding matters (Pages 9 - 12)

6 Fostering Agency Annual Report (Pages 13 - 38)
[Alison Hinds, Head of Looked After Children will present the report.

The presentation will be followed by group discussion with foster carers in 
attendance about issues arising from the report]

7 Adoption Agency Annual Report (Pages 39 - 74)
[Alison Hinds, Head of Looked After Children, to present report]

8 Performance Monitoring - Looked After Children (Pages 75 - 86)
[Emma Bennett, Service Director - Children and Young People, to present  the key 
points and findings of the looked after children performance report]

9 Exclusion of the public and press 
[To pass the following resolution:
 
That in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 the 
press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business 
as they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information falling within the 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 12A of the Act.]

PART 2 - ITEMS NOT OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AND PRESS

10 Councillor Visits to Children's Homes (Pages 87 - 92)
[To receive details of a visit to Merridale Street West Children’s Home by Cllr Peter 
O’Neill]



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Corporate Parenting Board
Minutes - 21 July 2016

Attendance
Chair Cllr Val Gibson (Lab)

Labour

Cllr Julie Hodgkiss
Cllr Hazel Malcolm

Cllr Lynne Moran
Cllr Peter O'Neill

Cllr Rita Potter
Cllr Zee Russell

Conservative

Cllr Christine Mills

Employees
Darren Martindale COPE Team Manager/Virtual School Head, Community 

Directorate
Alice Vickers Corporate Parenting Officer
Emma Bennett         Service Director, Children and Young People 
Fiona Brennan                     Wolverhampton CCG
Alison Hinds                               Head Of Looked After Children Community

Page 3

Agenda Item No: 3



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Item No. Title

1 Apologies for absence (if any)

Apologies were received from the following members of the Corporate Parenting 
Board

Cllr Paula Brookfield
Cllr Martin Waite

2 Declarations of interests (if any)

There were no declarations of interest made relative to the items under 
considerations at the meeting.

3 Minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2016

Resolved:
That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 May 2016 be confirmed as a 

correct record and signed by the Chair.

4 Matters arising

Agenda Item 8

Emma Bennett, Service Director, Children and Young People, advised the Board that 
the Total Respect training will be delivered in October 2016.

Agenda Item 9

Emma Bennett, Service Director, Children and Young People, advised the Board on 
progress of work being done to create the Regional Adoption Agency.  Reference 
was made to the delay in funding for phase two of the ‘Adoption at Heart’ project and 
that most projects were due to go live in 2017. The Council is waiting for confirmation 
from Department of Education about the release of funding for the project – 
discussions are planned for August 2016. The Board agreed to add the issue to the 
summary of outstanding minutes.

Agenda Item 11

The panel queried if Merridale Street West (a 4 bedded placement for young people 
with complex needs) was no longer a local authority run establishment and also the 
need for members of the Board to visit. The Board were advised that Board still has a 
responsibility to inspect the home. The home was last visited by the Board in early 
2014.

5 Schedule of outstanding matters

Earl Piggott-Smith, Scrutiny Officer, presented the report on current progress on 
matters previously considered by the Board.

Page 4



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 3 of 6

Resolved:
That the report be received and noted

6 Schools Engagement with Looked after Children

Darren Martindale, Virtual School Head for Looked After Children (LAC), gave a 
briefing on the engagement and working arrangements over the 2015/16 academic 
year. The Virtual School Head (VSH) outlined the success to date and future plans 
aimed at ensuring the authority meets its responsibility to promote the education of 
looked after children.

The VSH detailed the work done to build and strengthen the partnership between 
schools, the members of the Corporate Parenting Education team and other 
stakeholders. The VSH commented on the work being done to find a balance 
between providing schools with strong support and where necessary challenging 
headteachers and members of the Designated Teachers Forum to make changes 
needed to improve educational outcomes.

The VSH outlined the range of training and support given to various groups during 
the year. The VSH gave an example of the change in approach such as emotion 
coaching workshops aimed at encouraging teachers to adopt a positive approach 
towards the education of LAC. The feedback from designated teachers was very 
positive.

However, the VSH commented the level of school engagement has been mixed and 
is dependent on past experiences of working with the service. The VSH commented 
that the approach to training and supporting designated teachers was changing to be 
replaced by a coach and mentoring approach. The work is part of efforts to support 
teachers to embed the new approach into their practice.

The VSH commented on the discussion at the Designated Teachers Forum. The 
meeting was attended by 30 representatives. The last session of the forum 
discussed the extension of the current remit of the VSH to include young offenders. 
The aim is to provide schools with a single point of contact that would include 
children in the youth justice system and also strengthen the partnership between the 
service and the youth offending team. The VSH commented on new statutory 
guidance from Department for Education to help keep children in education. The 
guidance sets out the responsibilities for designated teachers and safeguarding 
leads. A programme of training for designated teachers is being developed.

The VSH briefed the Board on the results of a survey involving all schools to asking 
questions about how the funds from the pupil premium were being used in the last 
academic year to support LAC. The response rate was 70 per cent (30 – 40 
Wolverhampton schools). The VSH commented that schools reported that the 
funding has had a positive impact, but concluded that more work was needed to fully 
assess the impact of the funding. There is a plan to appoint a specific role to look at 
how the extra funding was being used to improve pupil performance and will 
hopefully reflect key stage results. The use of pupil premium funding will be reviewed 
in the next academic year. The work is being supported by educational 
psychologists. 

Page 5



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 4 of 6

The VSH commented that the relationship with schools is improving and praised the 
contribution of other local authority teams in getting looked after children a school 
place.

The Board discussed the role of Designated School Governors and national statutory 
guidance. The Board queried if there model school that could be used to support the 
improvements elsewhere. The VSH commented that meetings are held annually with 
DST and the findings are reported.

The Board queried the implications of the service providing support to pupils in the 
youth justice system and confusion this might cause to the public. Emma Bennett, 
Service Director, Children and Young People, explained that the role of the VSH is 
being extended to include LAC children who fall within the youth offending team. The 
issue was discussed at a leadership team meeting about the need to careful in how 
the widening of the role of the LAC was presented. The policy recognises the 
evidence that vulnerable young offenders either are in care or have been previously 
been in care and therefore it appropriate to have a joint policy. The policy is intended 
to close the educational achievement gap and to support young offenders to desist 
from crime. 

The Board while welcoming the report about the positive use of pupil premium to 
support LAC were disappointed by failure to get schools to respond to past requests 
to show how the money was being used and also to find examples of good practice.

The Board were advised schools are required by Government to provide details 
about how funding from pupil premium is being used to support LAC. Furthermore, 
schools have to complete a personal education plans for each child which details 
how the pupil premium is being used and share this information with the local 
authority. There is no similar requirement for schools to provide this information on 
other pupils. The VSH explained that work is on-going to build a productive 
relationship with schools and collect details of case studies.

The Board requested that the report on the use of pupil premium is presented to a 
future meeting of Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny Panel for 
consideration.

The Board discussed the level of engagement by schools in supporting LAC children. 
The VSH explained that there is a statutory framework to support work to build and 
improve relationships with schools. The VSH explained that the service is focusing 
on those schools that have not provided information on the funding from pupil 
premium is being used.

Resolved:
1. The report is received and note
2. The VSH present a report on the use and impact of pupil premium funding 

to a future meeting of the Children, Young People and Families Scrutiny 
Panel.

Page 6



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 5 of 6

7 Children and Young People's Participation Strategy

Alice Vickers, Corporate Parenting Officer, presented a draft of the Children and 
Young People’s Participation Strategy for approval. The Corporate Parenting Officer 
(CPO) explained that the need for children and young people to be involved in 
decisions about services that affect them. The CPO commented that the strategy 
was informed and developed during workshop sessions attended by members of the 
Children in Care Council and the Youth Council in 2015/16. The sessions were 
aimed at looking at ways of improving services.

The CPO commented on the communication strategy and the aim to inform young 
people and also to get their voice heard.  The CPO outlined the standards of 
participation detailed in the strategy.

The Board queried what the young people had said they wanted to get from the 
participation. The CPO explained that the strategy document had been sent to Youth 
Council and the Children in Care Council for sign-off.

The Board commented on the importance of the language used in the 
communication strategy and how it will reach young people who were no involved in 
the workshop sessions. The CPO explained that members of the Youth Council and 
Children in Care Council have been encouraged to talk about the plans in school and 
get feedback on the strategy. In addition, social media sites and newsletters will be 
used to reach young people and get them involved. The Board discussed how ideas 
and contributions of young people will be considered in a meaningful way. The CPO 
explained that that performance rating will be used to look at what things are working 
well in engaging children and young people and areas that need to be improved. In 
addition, assessments about the impact of the strategy would be based on a rainbow 
scale rating.

The Board queried how the strategy will ensure that the Council is getting a broad 
range of views and that the voice of other young people is being heard. The CPO 
explained that the schools are being asked to elect a youth council representative to 
contribute to the process, but accepted that some schools may not want to get 
involved. The pupil voice feedback is not as strong as it should be and work is being 
done with the Youth Council to talk about how this could be improved.  Andrew 
Scragg commented that the involvement of young people is an issue that will be 
discussed at the residential event for Children and Care Council and Youth Council 
and the Be-Safe Team. All three groups will be talking at the event about building 
links between the different groups and other young people.

Resolved:
1. The Board approved the draft of the Children and Young People’s 

Participation Strategy.
2. The Board wanted to formally record its appreciation for the contribution of 

young people in developing the strategy.

8 Performance Monitoring - Looked After Children (LAC)

Emma Bennett, Service Director - Children and Young People, briefed the Board on 
the key points and findings of the looked after children performance report. 

Page 7



 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Minutes
Page 6 of 6

The Service Director commented that overall the report shows a positive picture of 
progress. 62 children were adopted in 2015/16, this compares to 51 children in 
2014/15. The Service Director commented on the progress made in increasing the 
number of care leavers available for work.

The Board discussed the issue of supporting LAC children who are asylum seekers. 
The Service Director commented that Wolverhampton had responded to the request 
from Kent County Council for other local authorities for help with unaccompanied 
asylum seekers. The Service Director reported that three asylum seekers had been 
placed in The Royal Wolverhampton School and described the support provided. The 
feedback from the school has been positive and the young people have all settled 
well.

The Board discussed the education results at KS2 for LAC children. The VSH agreed 
to share more detailed report with the Board.

The Board queried about the checks done on LAC children who have been placed 
back with their parents or carers. The Service Director confirmed that children will 
continue to be monitored. The Board discussed the importance of good 
communication when dealing with asylum seekers families moving from London to 
the local area. The Service Director commented on the discussion with the Leader 
about the promotion of Wolverhampton City of Sanctuary. The City of Sanctuary is a 
national public initiative which shows a commitment to an area becoming a place of 
welcome and safety to help and support asylum seekers and refugees.

Resolved:
The Board agreed to receive the report and note the progress.

9 Children in Care Council/Care Leavers Forum Workshop  - Participation - what 
works well?

The Board took part in a workshop exercise led by members of the Children in Care 
Council to share their experiences of participation and how it can be improved when 
looking to involve children.

The Board thanked Andrew and Selina for their efforts in supporting the Children in 
Care Council.

10 Exclusion of the public and press

11 Councillor Visits to Children's Homes

Resolved:
The Board noted the previous discussion about visiting Children’s Homes.

Page 8



PUBLIC   
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
  

 

Corporate Parenting Board 
22 September 2016 

  
Report Title Summary of outstanding matters 
  

Cabinet Member with 
Lead Responsibility 
 

Councillor Val Gibson 
Cabinet Member for Children and Young People 

Wards Affected All 

Accountable Director Emma Bennett – Service Director – Children and Young People 

Originating service Governance 

Accountable officer(s) Earl Piggott-Smith 

Tel 

Email 

 

Scrutiny Officer 

01902 551251 

earl.piggott-smith@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations for noting: 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board is asked to consider and comment on the summary of 

outstanding matters. 

 

  

Page 9

Agenda Item No: 5



PUBLIC   
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

 

1.0 Purpose 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update members on progress of items previously 

considered by Corporate Parenting Board. 

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 At previous meetings of the Board the following matters were considered and details of 

 the current position is set out in the fourth column of the table. 

 
DATE OF 

MEETING 

SUBJECT LEAD MEMBER / 

OFFICER 

CURRENT 

POSITION 

30 September 

2015 

Report back on visit to 

Merridale Street West 

Cllrs Peter O’Neill 

and Stephen 

Simkins / Alice 

Vickers 

Report to meeting 

on 22 September 

2016 

26 May 2016 Breakdown of LAC in 

terms of those known 

or not known to the 

Authority before being 

taken into care 

Emma Bennett Report to next 

meeting or Briefing 

Note to be 

circulated 

26 May 2016 Details of the number 

of children in privately 

operated Children’s 

Homes in 

Wolverhampton 

together with the 

Ofsted rating of such 

establishments 

Jan Barlow To be reported at 

meeting on 22 

September 2016 

21  July 2016  Regional Adoption 

Agency     

Emma Bennett To be reported at 

meeting on 22 

September 2016 

   

                            

 

 

 

 

 

                                                            

 

Page 10



PUBLIC   
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 

3.0 Financial implications 

 

3.1 None arising directly from this report. The financial implications of each matter will be 

detailed in the report submitted to the Board. 

 [JF/16092016/B] 

 

4.0 Legal implications 

 

4.1 None arising directly from this report. The legal implications of each matter will be 

detailed in the report submitted to the Board.  

[RB/16092016/M] 

 

5.0 Equalities implications 

 

5.1 None arising directly from this report. The equalities implications of each matter will be 

detailed in the reports submitted to the Board 

 

6.0 Environmental implications 

 

6.1 None arising directly from this report. The environmental implications of each matter will 

be detailed in the report submitted to the Board. 

 

7.0 Human resources implications 

 

7.1 None arising directly from this report. The human resources implications of each matter 

will be detailed in the report submitted to the Board. 

 

8.0 Corporate landlord implications 

 

8.1 None arising directly from this report. The corporate landlord implications of each matter 

will be detailed in the report submitted to the Board. 

 

9.0 Schedule of background papers 

 

9.1 Minutes of previous meetings of the Board and associated reports. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
Corporate Parenting Board 
22 September 2016 

  
Report title Wolverhampton Fostering Annual Report 

April 2015 to March 2016 
  

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Val Gibson 
Children and Families 

Wards affected All 

Accountable director Emma Bennett, Children and Young People 

Originating service Looked After Children 

Accountable employee(s) Shirley Gounder 

Tel 

Email 

Senior  Social Work Manager  

01902 553070 

shirley.gounder@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

 

 

  

 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision: 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to: 

 

1. receive,observe,and provide feedback on the Fostering Annual Report for 2015/2016. 

 

  

Page 13

Agenda Item No: 6



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

1.0 Purpose 

 

To enable the Corporate Parenting Board to have a clear understanding of the work 

undertaken by the Fostering Service between April 2015 and March 2016. 

  

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 The Fostering Service Annual Report, which is attached, highlights the 

work of the Fostering Service for the period April 2015 to March 2016. Under 

the Fostering Service Regulations 2011, the Fostering Service must provide the 

executive side of the Council with written activities of the Fostering Service. 

 

3.0 Progress 

 

3.1  The report continues to show improvements  in the recruitment process of fosters carers 

through targeted marketing activity. The service is striving to meet targets to increase the 

number of local foster placements for Wolverhampton children, which will help to reduce 

the reliance on expensive Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) placements.Placemennts 

have on the whole remain stable,with consistent supportive training such as the Keep 

Foster Carers Trainied and Supported (KEEP) programme.  

  

3.2     The Fostering Service is helped in supporting carers and children through partnerships      

with schools and health services. Within Children’s Services, there continue to be 

effective working relationships between the Looked After Children’s Teams and Locality 

teams.  

 

3.4     The intention is to continue to expand the foster carer community  and develop specialist 

fostering provision within the service.  

 

4.0 Financial implications 

 

4.1 The approved budget for 2015/16 for the Fostering Service is £5.6 million. 

 

4.2 There are no direct financial implications as a result of this report. 

 NN/12092016/0 

 

5.0 Legal implications 

 

5.1 Under the Fostering Service Regulations 2011, which came into effect on 1 April 

2011, the Fostering Service must provide Council with written reports on the  

activities of the Fostering Service. 

RB/14092016/Y 

 

 

 

 

Page 14



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

6.0 Equalities implications 

 

6.1 We want to have continuous  improvements in securing local foster placements, for 

children from all  backgrounds including those of  ethnic minority communities, and  

disabled children and their families, to ensure equality of access to services for all 

Wolverhampton children who are Looked After by the local authority. 

 

7.0 Environmental implications 

 

7.1 There are no identified environmental implications. 

 

8.0 Human resources implications 

 

8.1 There are no known Human resources implications. 

 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications 

 

9.1 There are no known Corporate landlord implications. 

 

10.0 Schedule of background papers 

 

10.1 The full Annual Fostering Report April 2015- March 2016 is attached. 

 

11.1   Appendix 1- Comments from the Children in Care Council 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 15



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

11.1 Appendix 1 - Comments from the Children in Care Council 

 

The report was accepted by the CICC on 07/09/16 and they asked the following questions: 

 

1. Can you use the young people as advertisement for recruitment as we are aware that there is 

a stigma attached to young people and how people are less likely to foster us as they think we 

are not good at anything and will never amount to anything? – Reassurance given that this 

message is driven through training and recruitment and we would welcome young people 

involved in Skills to Foster training in the future.  

 

2. Why is there a difference in pocket money and savings for external carers? Advised young 

people that this is an on-going issue and should be challenged via the LAC Reviews with their 

IRO and social worker if young people do not feel they are getting sufficient allowances. IROs 

are independent and therefore would be most appropriate to address.  

 

3. Is online training effective? How can you be sure foster carers aren’t just clicking through the 

screens as have overheard carers saying this and about how boring training can be? 

Reassured that online training is monitored by Esther who can see how long the training has 

been accessed for and carers then complete a learning log which reflects on what carers have 

learned to ensure this is not the case. Training is now more varied to avoid carers finding this 

mundane and repetitive.  

 

4. When you talk about Men Supporting Men training groups, does this mean you are recruiting 

single and same sex males for fostering? Explained the training was to look at the male role in 

caring but that we certainly have recruited same sex males and single men as we assess the 

ability to meet the needs of the child, regardless of gender and sexuality. Another young person 

stated that she has seen fostering recruitment stands at Gay PRIDE and we confirmed that this 

year, we were also present promoting fostering for Wolverhampton.  

 

5. Can external IFAs be questioned about the training they attend? Reassured that again, 

carers should be completing necessary training to meet their fostering standards and that we 

have an intention to sell places to IFA carers to attend our KEEP training. 

 

 

Page 16



 

 

1 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 ANNUAL FOSTERING REPORT  
APRIL 2015– MARCH 2016 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Author: Shirley Gounder– Interim Senior Social Work Manager (Fostering &Adoption) 

Page 17



 

 

2 

 

 

 
 

 

Contents        Page 
 
1.0 Introduction       3 
   
2.0 The Fostering Service      3 
 
3.0     The Fostering Service Objectives    4 
 
4.0 Recruitment of Foster carers    5 
 
5.0 Preparation and Assessment Courses   8 
 
6.0 Permanency through Fostering Team    10 
 
7.0 Family and Friends Carers (Connected Persons Carers) 11 
 
8.0 Short Breaks                                                                  12   
 
8.3 Special Guardianship      12  
 
9.0 Post Approval Supervision, Support and Reviewing 13 
 
10.0 Foster Carers Learning and Development  15 
 
11.0 Fostering Panel      16 
 
12.0 Complaints / complements     18  
 
13.0 Private Fostering      18 
 
14.0 Financial packages for foster carers    19 
 
15.0 Summary                                                                       20 
 
16.0. Future Service Development/    21 

Challenges for the next year  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 18



 

 

3 

 

 

 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 This report provides a description of the structure, aims and duties of The City of 

Wolverhampton Fostering Service and details the performance of the service over the 
last 12 months.  The National Minimum Standards for Fostering Services (2011) 
requires that all fostering services provide written reports to their Executive or Trustees 
on a regular basis.  In the case of Local Authorities, the ‘executive’ is the Elected 
Members of the City of Wolverhampton.  

 
1.2 The Fostering Service is located within the People Directorate of the City of 

Wolverhampton Council.  The Fostering Service recruits trains and supports foster 
carers to care for and support vulnerable children placed in their care.  These 
placements include relatives and friends (Connected Persons Carers) foster carers 
where children and young people are placed by the Local Authority within their family 
network.  The Fostering Service also assesses and monitors Private Fostering 
arrangements. 

 
1.3 The activities of the service works in conjunction to the following legislation: 

 Children Act 1989 

 Children Act 2004 

 Children & Young Persons Act 2008 

 Care Standards Act 2000 

 Fostering Services: National Minimum Standards 2011 

 The Children Act 1989 Guidance and Regulations Volume 4: Fostering 
Services 2011 

 The Children Act 1989 Guidance & Regulations Volume 2: Care Planning, 
Placement and Case Review 2010 & Update 2013  

 
1.4 The Fostering Service was last inspected by Ofsted in 2012 and was rated ‘Good’   

with no notice of requirement.  
 
1.5 The Children and Young Persons Act 2008 imposes a duty on Local Authorities to   

find sufficient appropriate fostering provisions in its local area.  The Fostering service 
is committed to provide stability; care and security to looked after children and ensure 
that foster carers are able to meet the individual needs of children.  As such 
Wolverhampton Recruitment Marketing Strategy outlines how we aim to provide 
placement choice, which promotes children’s welfare, stressing the importance of 
placing children within their family and friend’s network, within their community, with 
their siblings and therefore making sure the stability of their education is not disrupted. 
 

2.  The Fostering Service comprises of the following:  

 
 Placement Team  

Although this team sits within the Commissioning arm of the People Directorate, it 
works in conjunction with the fostering service and is responsible for all placement 
searches for children and young people needing a foster or residential placement.  All 
short term placements are made via this team, using the child’s referral information, 
including the wishes and feelings of the child and their birth family to try to identify 
suitable foster placements; for example, the right location to facilitate access to school 
and contact with family members, and where possible matching the cultural and 
religious needs of the child. 

Page 19



 

 

4 

 

 

 
 Recruitment, Initial Assessments, Training, and Assessment of Foster Carers 

The service has responsibility for marketing, recruitment, training and assessing 
activities. The marketing function is fully supported by colleagues in Marketing and 
Communication services. 

 
 Generic or Mainstream Fostering  

The Fostering Service has a pool of generic foster carers to care for Wolverhampton’s 
vulnerable children needing to be in foster care.  In Wolverhampton foster carers are 
assessed over an eight month period and their approval is recommended by the 
fostering panel, and ratified by the Agency Decision Maker. 
 

 Support and Development   
The service has responsibility for providing supervision, support and post approval 
training to all temporary, family and friends and permanent carers.  The assessments 
of existing foster carers who wish to consider permanent placements for children who 
are in their care are also undertaken within the service. 
 

 Connected Persons Carers   
The service is responsible for the assessment, training, and support of Connected 
Persons Carers and Special Guardianship carers. 
 

 Private Fostering   
This is regulated under the Children (Private Arrangement for Fostering) Regulations 
2005, and is inspected by Ofsted. The last Inspection was in 2011.  The service is 
responsible for raising awareness amongst the general public, professionals, parents 
and children.  The assessments, training, and support of Private Foster carers also fall 
under the remit of the fostering service area of responsibility. 
 

 Special Guardianship  
In June 2014, the responsibility for the assessment and support of Special 
Guardianship Orders moved to the Fostering Service.  When the care plan is for a 
child not to return home, Connected Persons Carers are encouraged to apply for a 
Special Guardianship Order, essentially removing the child from the care system, and 
transferring parental responsibility to the carer.  
 

 Post Approval Training of Foster Carers    
Approximately 90 different courses are provided to Wolverhampton foster carers each 
year, these courses are provided by both internal and external providers and also 
through on-line courses.  This year the team has recruited a full time Social Worker as 
a Training and Development Social Worker to assist in developing the learning 
opportunities for foster carers.  
 

 Independent Reviewing Officers  

There is one Independent Reviewing Officer who undertakes all reviews of foster 
carers’ households. The Independent Reviewing Officer is managed within the 
Safeguarding Service. 
 

 Social work staffing   
The Fostering Service enjoys a full complement of 14.5 full time equivalent qualified 
social worker posts, and two full time equivalent unqualified posts.  
 
 

 Page 20



 

 

5 

 

 

 Staff training  
There is a Workforce Development plan in situ which includes a wide range of training 
and development for staff throughout the year.  This includes staff briefings and 
Looked After Children staff conferences.  All members of staff are subject to yearly 
individual annual appraisal and reviews.  Two members of the fostering service are in 
the process of completing level one of the Practice Educator’s Award through 
Wolverhampton University and have had the additional responsibility for supervising a 

third year social work student.    

 
3. The Fostering Service Objectives : 
 

 To provide a comprehensive good quality foster care service to all children looked 
after by Wolverhampton City Council.  

 
 To provide looked after children in foster care with a positive experience of family life, 

which promotes their physical, emotional, developmental well-being, and happiness in 

an environment in or close to their community.  
 

 Work in partnership with partners across the Children and Young People’s Service as 
well as with health and education and other allied professionals to achieve best 
outcomes for children and young people in foster placements. 

 
 To work in partnership with foster carers to enable them to provide warm, safe and 

caring family environments, so that children’s emotional health and development is 
promoted. 

 
 To work in partnership with foster carers so that they understand the importance of 

working and co-operating with schools, to ensure access to available opportunities to 
promote children’s attendance and their academic achievements. 

 
4.      Recruitment of Foster Carers: 
  
4.1   The Recruitment and Assessment Team continue to work hard to increase the capacity 

of the foster carer population and the quality of care offered.  Through a comprehensive 
Marketing and Recruitment Strategy that works creatively with foster carers and the 
wider public in 2015/16, the service has enhanced the quality of enquiries with a small 
number of those coming from Independent Fostering Agencies. 

 
4.2  Whilst there have been recent increases in the numbers of approvals of internal Foster 

Carers, with twenty fostering  households approved in 2015/16, there is a continued 
positive drive to further increase the number of approvals, enabling more LAC children 
to live with local  foster families within the  Wolverhampton area.  It is anticipated that 
thirty fostering households will be approved in 2016/17.  

 
4.3    As we are aware that foster carers can bring the role to life by sharing their experiences    

and portray a realistic but not off-putting view of fostering, we use a number of Foster 
Carers Champions who work with the Recruitment and Assessment Team to support 
the new marketing and recruitment campaign.  Alongside this, approved foster carers 
also support Information Sessions and the preparatory ‘Skills to Foster’ training for new 
applicants. 

 
4.4 Telephone enquiries continue to be routed through a call centre and fostering Duty 

Workers are available to respond immediately to callers who want more information.  
Page 21



 

 

6 

 

 

Three training sessions have been undertaken by Social Workers from the Recruitment 
and Assessment Team with the Duty Workers to increase their awareness and 
understanding of the fostering task.  This training will continue to be offered on a needs 
led basis of the workers at City Direct. 

 
4.5  The Recruitment and Assessment Team continue to work closely with Marketing and       

Communications and there is an on-going recruitment campaign, with three peaks of 
activity in January,  Foster Care Fortnight in May, where events and road shows were 
run every day at two locations, and also in September. 

  
4.6 Recruitment is sustained by campaign activity throughout the year to achieve the ‘drip 

drip’ effect.  Monthly ‘Fostering Friday’ events are on-going, alongside monthly 
‘Information Evenings’ at the Molineux.  In January 2016 we launched a new fostering 
film and to date this has been viewed 262,840 times.  During the last year we have 
continued with the Facebook advertising campaign and radio campaigns on Free Radio 
and Signal 107 during Foster Care Fortnight and the January event.  Editorials and 
advertisements are placed in local papers and magazines at regular intervals to sustain 
awareness of the need to increase local fostering provision.  As part of looking at 
possible internal Wolverhampton City Council applicants, recruitment stands at Civic 
Centre have been held to highlight the Council’s Fostering Leave Policy, supported by 
internal communications.  On an on-going basis, Marketing and Communications work 
with partners including Wolverhampton Homes, Wolverhampton College, 
Wolverhampton University and West Midlands Police has been undertaken to raise 
awareness of fostering through their communications channels such as the intranet, 
website, e-newsletters and social media accounts.  
 

4.7 The national rate of conversion from initial enquiry to approval is 11% cent but based on 
statistics from 2015/16, in Wolverhampton this figure is 8.7%.  We have therefore 
focused on targeting our marketing and key messages to attract quality enquiries from 
people who meet the essential criteria. 

 
4.8  Following Cabinet Approval in October 2015, revised ‘Fees and Allowances’ were 

introduced in January 2016.   The revised fee structure recognises foster carer skills 
and experience and it is anticipated this will support the recruitment of new carers, 
together with assisting in retaining existing foster carers. 

 
4.9   During the year we have experienced a dropout of applicants between initial enquiry and 

initial visit.  This is due to either the enquirer deciding not to pursue their application, the 
enquirer not meeting the basic requirements for fostering, or the Fostering Team ruling 
out.  There are also often general enquiries about fostering whereby the caller is simply 
gathering appropriate information to consider fostering rather than wishing to pursue an 
application at that time. Based on this evidence the communications objective is: 

        Through targeted and sustained communication, generate 345 enquiries pro rata (86.25 
per quarter) from residents to become foster carers to achieve the corporate target of 30 
(7.5 per quarter) for 16/17  

 
4.10   It is critical that children in care are helped to develop strong, trusting relationships with 

their carers, so applicants now receive more detailed information about fostering, and 
clarity about the fostering task and the criteria for progression in the application process. 

 
4.11   There are a range of reasons for ruling applicants out at this stage, for example: 

 
 Accommodation issues, e.g., lack of bedroom space, major renovations 
 The needs of own birth children 
 Lack of understanding of the roles and responsibilities of fostering Page 22



 

 

7 

 

 

 Balancing work commitments and the fostering role 
 On-going or unresolved issues with personal situations 
 Safeguarding concerns and/or previous involvement with Social Care in relation to 

the parenting of their children 
 Significant life events 

 
4.12  In the last year we have undertaken sixty nine initial assessments, with twenty six 

households progressing onto the Skills to Foster preparation training course.  During 
the Initial Assessment a very detailed discussion is held between the applicants and 
Social Workers from the Recruitment and Assessment Team. This covers: 

 
 Applicant’s motivation and parenting capacity 
 Appropriateness of accommodation and any health and safety issues 
 Any significant medical issues 
 Applicant’s occupation and how this may impact on their availability to care for and 

meet the needs of a foster child 
 DBS and any convictions 
 Composition of family members 
 Support network 

 
 

 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

4.13  The dropout of applicants at this stage of the process is again due to either applicants 
recognising that they are unable to pursue fostering, or this is not the right time for 
them to continue their application or the social workers counselling out applicants due 
to concerns with any of the above issues. 

 
  5. Preparation and Assessment Courses 
 

5.1 The preparation and assessment course follows the “Skills to Foster” 
 programme, devised by the Fostering Network.  We have recently starting using the 
updated third edition of the course, of which we played a part in the piloting.  
Wolverhampton continues to be part of the Black Country Consortium, along with 
Sandwell, Dudley and Walsall.  The authorities work in partnership offering two places 
to any of the other Local Authorities on every course they run.  Each of the Local 
Authorities delivers the course a varying number of times, with Wolverhampton 
running the largest number of courses at six times a year.  We run the Skills to Foster 
every other month offering applicants the maximum flexibility to enable applicants to 
attend at a time most convenient to themselves.  Page 23



 

 

8 

 

 

 
5.2      In total 26 households attended the preparation courses with 23 progressing onto the 

full assessments.  
 
5.3    During 2015/16 the Sufficiency Strategy required a review of every aspect of the 

recruitment process to achieve ambitious targets to grow local capacity of available in 
house foster carers, significantly increasing the numbers over a period of time and 
reversing the ratio of in house to independent agency carers so that 50-60 per cent of 
all foster placements will be with Wolverhampton. 

  
6.        Assessments 
 
6.1 Assessments are part of the core work of the Fostering Recruitment and Assessment 

Team which enables the building of a comprehensive picture of the applicants.  
Evidence based and analytical assessments are completed on all prospective foster 
carers to help understand their motivation and ability to care for children who have 
experienced loss, separation and trauma.  Caring for such children requires people 
with understanding, patience, and ability to understand and accept behaviours that are 
not usually the norm.  In addition to collating factual information, assessment focuses 
on peoples own experiences of being parented, parenting, their understanding  of 
safeguarding  children and their ability to create a warm and nurturing home for 
children.   

 
6.2 References are sought from a variety of relevant organisations, in addition to personal 

references supplied by the applicants. 
 
6.3 The full fostering assessment is commissioned from an Independent Provider, 

currently this is Core Assets. 
  
6.4  
 

Mainstream or Short term foster carers care for children and young people on a short 
term basis, until permanent plans are made for them.  Therefore children and young 
people could be in placement for a few days, a few months or longer depending on the 
circumstances of their individual situations.  The recruitment of carers as outlined 
above is in the main to recruit foster carers to care for this group of children. 

 
6.5  Foster carers are now approved under a generic approval category and are expected 

to take children and young people between the ages of 0 and 18.  This approval will 
enable foster carers to care for children on a temporary and permanent basis, and in 
addition they can consider respite care and emergency placements. This offers the 
service a wider potential of internal resource.  In line with this the new fees structure 
will generate a review of all existing mainstream foster carers with an aim to bring their 
approval in line with the expectation of the newly approved carers, these reviews 
should be fully completed by January 2017.  

 
6.6 As of 31 March 2016 there were 233 approved foster placements, of which 220 were 

filled (94. 4%) compared to 209 (85%) filled last year.  This compares to just 68% of 
available places filled across England as a whole. 

 
 
 

Page 24



 

 

9 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
7. Permanency through Long Term Fostering 
  
7.1 Wolverhampton Fostering Service seeks to achieve permanency for children and 

young people when the care plans are long term fostering.  Children needing 
permanent placements are referred to the Fostering Family Finder.  The Family Finder 
builds a profile of the child/young person and works with the child’s’ social worker to 
secure the permanency plans.  Permanent carers make a commitment to care for a 
child or young person until they reach the age of independence.  These carers often 
go on to provide ‘Staying Put’ arrangements in order for young people to remain in the 
household post 18 years. 

 
7.2 The Fostering Service secured 46 matches, a total of 52 permanent placements for 

children for whom the care plan is permanency. Some of these children or young 
people were unable to continue into permanency within their current placement 
arrangements. Other children or young people were in an external provision and 
wished to remain with their foster placements. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



 

 

10 

 

 

 
 
7.3 Currently there are 86 children and young people awaiting permanent placements. Of 

these 54 have been identified to be linked and matched with their current foster carers, 
progressing their long term plans to permanency by way of long term fostering. The 
Family Finder is responsible for ensuring that the linking meetings are scheduled 
throughout the year for the children’s plans to be progressed.  

  
8 Connected Persons Carers 
 
8.1 Local Authorities have a responsibility to consider members of the child’s family, or 

friend (Connected Persons Carers) during Care Proceedings and when a child is 
facing the possibility of becoming looked after.  

 
8.2    During this period challenges were  posed due to the balance needed in terms of the 

increase in requests for Connected Persons Carers assessments, and the tight 
timescales of which were  determined by  court process. The team assists the 
childcare teams by jointly (where possible) advising with viability assessments of 
prospective Connected Persons Carers. The location that some of the relative carers 
live pose an additional strain on the service due to the time taken by travel. For 
example, we currently have 10 out of city placements. 

  
8.3 Connected Persons Carers put themselves forward to care for children from within 

their family network.  They are assessed by the service as to their suitability to provide 
a placement for a particular child or children in care.  Connected Persons Carers care 
is governed by The Fostering Regulations 2011. From March 2015 – April 2016, 
Wolverhampton Local Authority had 36 Connected Person households which provided 
a total of 52 placements for looked after children.  

 
8.4 During the period of 1 April 2015 till 31 March 2016 there were 23 form C 

assessments completed within internal resources, six assessments were outsourced 
and independently undertaken.  Of the completed assessments 14 had a positive 
outcome and six negative, all of these assessments were presented to Fostering 
Panel for consideration of their approval.  A further nine Form C assessments were 
commenced or completed but did not progress to panel for various reasons i.e. 
change in Care Plan and applicant’s withdrawal.  

 This table shows the numbers of Form C (full Connected Persons Carers 
assessments) completed; 

Page 26



 

 

11 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 This table highlights the outcomes of the assessments completed; 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.5  The Connected Persons Carers Team have received referrals for 40 viability 

assessments and 12 schedule 4 (temporary approval) assessments from 1 April 2015 
to 31 March 2016.  Out of these 52 initial assessments, 29 have progressed onto a full 
Connected Person assessment. Family Group Conferences/family meetings are 
required as part of the process for Connected Persons Carers, in order to reduce the 
number of referrals for multiple initial assessments for the same child. This should, 
subsequently reduce the number of assessments which do not progress onto a full 
assessment during Care Proceedings. It will also allow for assessments to be 

Page 27



 

 

12 

 

 

allocated at the earliest opportunity to avoid delay in allocation, completion and 
restrictions in panel availability.  

 
8.6 Schedule 4 assessments whereby Connected Persons Carers are granted temporary 

approval require allocation of a social worker to supervise and assess the placement 
suitability within a 16 week timescale. An extension of eight weeks continues to be 
applied where required and a clear process is now being followed via panel and Head 
of Service to reduce the number of unregulated placements. These are likely to occur 
due to a delay in checks and references, rather than assessment completion.  

 
 This table shows the numbers of Connected Persons Carers initial assessments 

completed for this year 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
8.7  In previous years, Connected Persons Carers have been reluctant to attend training 

and maintain records given the nature of their relationships i.e. the majority are 
grandparents. However, this year has seen an increase in numbers of carers 
accessing training courses and completing their Training, Support and Development 
Standards. Figures will be reported more clearly within the next financial year. 
However, Skills to Foster continues to be attended as part of the assessment with two 
courses delivered this year and a total of 22 Connected Carer applicants attending. 
Nine Connected Persons Carers have also accessed the KEEP programme. The aim 
is to deliver four Skills to Foster training courses per year and for all Connected 
Persons Carers to attend KEEP training.  

 
 
9.        Short Breaks (Shared Care) Foster Carers  
 
9.1 There is one approved short break foster carer providing shared care placements for 

disabled children.  Short Break foster carers provide care to children or young people 
with disabilities, who need a temporary placement for a weekend or a week during 
school holidays.  The shared carers are usually professionals who work full time.  
They offer regular breaks to parents and carers who have children who have 
disabilities so that they can have a break from their caring responsibilities.  The plans 
are to enhance this area within the recruitment and communication strategy for 
2016/2017 

            
        Page 28



 

 

13 

 

 

9.2     In January 2016 the new fees and allowances were introduced and they have included 
payments for shared carers to be made at level three.  

 
10.     Special Guardianship  
 
10.1 In June 2014, the responsibility for the assessment and support for Special 

Guardianship Orders moved to the Fostering Service.  Where the care plan is for the 
child not to return home, Connected Persons Carers are encouraged to apply for 
Special Guardianship Orders, thereby replacing a Care Order and Looked After Child 
status, giving parental responsibility to the carer.  There is a social worker dedicated to 
the role of supporting and advising foster carers and Connected Persons Carers about 
the details of caring for children under the Special Guardianship Order should they 
consider this to be a future option.  The social worker is also able to discuss on-going 
support plans to ensure that the needs of the child and carer continue to be met. In the 
future it is planned for staff to be offered a training workshop available in the area of 
Special Guardianship Orders and this will provide information of the current policies in 
place.  In addition the team will look to hold permanency clinics on a regular basis so 
children’s social workers can book a time to discuss the available permanency options 
and a preparation course to be offered to Connected Persons Carers.  

 
10.2 The Connected Persons Carer’s social worker, along with the child’s social worker 

completes the Special Guardianship assessment together with the support plan. The 
Support Plan is reviewed annually within the Connected Persons Carers Team and 
post-SGO support is high on the agenda for next year. This year, a total of 10 Special 
Guardianship Orders have been granted and this is expected to significantly increase 
next year.  
 

 
11 Post Approval supervision, support and reviewing 
 

11.1 All approved foster carers have an allocated, suitably qualified supervising social 
worker.  The allocated supervising social worker is responsible for supervising and 
supporting carers, ensuring that they have the necessary guidance, support and 
direction to maintain a quality service, including safe caring practices.  This will include 
an understanding that they must work within the agency's policies, procedures and 
guidance.  However, our focus is placement stability, reducing placement moves and 
improving outcomes for children.  With this is mind all our foster carers have direct 
access to local partners in health and education who also provide them with advice 
and support. Foster carers provide foster placements for children and young people 
who present challenges and, or have a range of complex needs. All carers are offered 
support to meet these challenges.  There is a behaviour management programme in 
place such as validated parenting programmes (KEEP) to offer additional training.  

 
11.2   Wolverhampton has a commissioning arrangement with Foster Talk who offer support 

to all of Wolverhampton’s approved foster carers including; legal advice and expenses 
insurance cover, a 24 hour legal advice helpline, a 24 hour counselling support 
helpline, an education support line, a social work support helpline and access to 
discounts and special offers via the use of a MAX Card.  

 
11.3   There is a buddy scheme in place where experienced foster carers will provide 

support    to newly approved foster carers for a period of six months.  Buddies will also 
offer support to foster carers requiring addition assistance, an example of this is 
providing support during an allegation.  Over the coming year the fostering service 

Page 29



 

 

14 

 

 

would like to increase the number of foster carers who offer the buddy support and will 
ensure that all buddies received appropriate training for their role.  

 
11.4  All Wolverhampton carers have access to request respite arrangements in line with the 

Fostering Regulations.   As well as the regular fostering arrangements there are also 
eight approved temporary foster carers who also provide short term foster carers with 
regular respite placements.  In addition respite carers may offer a regular break to 
carers who may have challenging placements in order that they can have a break.  

 
11.5 Foster carers are reviewed on an annual basis (with the exception of newly approved 

carers who are reviewed six months following their approval) by an Independent 
Reviewing Officer.  This will involve the carer meeting with the Independent Reviewing 
Officer who will discuss the activity of a foster carer to ensure the carer continues to be 
suitable and meet the fostering regulations. 

   The Independent Reviewing Officer will seek the views of the foster carer, the child in 
placement (subject to age and understanding), the child’s social worker, the child’s 
independent reviewing officer, the supervising social worker and, or any other 
appropriate person during the review process.  Views are usually collected through the 
use of consultation questionnaires.  The review is also an opportunity for the foster 
carer to review the service and support given to the children who are placed.   

 
11.6 During this review period 156 Annual Foster Home Reviews have been completed. 

This is an increase of 15 on the previous period.       
 
11.7 Overall, the Reviews have remained positive and the standard of Foster Care delivered 

to children and young people remains good.  
 

 Due to the change in the way the feedback is provided to the reviewing officer by 
the supervising social workers there has been a decline in the information 
received. To improve this for the next review period it has been requested by the 
Independent Foster Home Reviewing Officer that supervising social workers are 
now to attend all of the foster home reviews for their foster carers.  

 
 Completed unannounced supervision visits have decreased by eight per cent to 75 

per cent.  An improvement will be required for the coming year and a target of 100 
per cent is expected.  

 
 Foster Carers generally report the continuing positive working relationships with 

the Fostering Service, other colleagues and agency partners. 
 
 Consultation feedback from children and professionals is low and must continue to 

be addressed.  
 
 The good standards of Foster Carer’s records have been maintained.  

 
 Regular supervision of Foster Carers is of a good level.  
 
 A high number of Foster Carers have completed their training, support and 

development workbooks.  
 
 Trends emerging from reviews during the year relate to the number of reviews 

where the recommendation that Delegated Authority documents needs to put in 
place and reviewed, Life Journey work needing to be complete or updated and for 

Page 30



 

 

15 

 

 

the home safety check to be completed.  There were also a significant number of 
households that were required to update their Safe Care Statements.   

 
 All matters above have been addressed with forecast improvements in the 

Fostering Improvement Plan for 2016/17.  
 

11.8  Maintaining placements stability for children and young people in foster placements   
is regarded as very high priority, to achieve positive outcomes.  The fostering service 
works very closely with children social workers, Children and Mental Health Services, 
the youth service and other allied professionals recognising the importance of different 
approaches in supporting foster carers and children in foster carer. 

 
12.  Foster Carers Learning and Development 
 
  
12.1   Wolverhampton provides a comprehensive programme of learning and development to 

foster carers .This begins before they are approved, whereby prospective foster carers 

attend the pre –approval, skills to foster course. Foster carers are also encouraged to 
make use of a wide range of resources for alternative methods of learning including 
on-line training.  

 
12.2   Training is a continual process and all approved Wolverhampton foster carers are 

offered new and refresher training courses to update their skills on a regular basis. 
Carers are required to complete the evidenced based Training Support and 
Development National Standards work book within the first year of approval (first 
eighteen months for Connected Persons Carers).  The fostering service provides a 
core of six to eight induction courses for all new carers and a range of development 
training courses for foster carers using internal, external and on-line facilities.   

 
12.3   Foster carers training needs are identified as part of their Personal Development Plan 

and reviewed regularly during supervision.   Personal Development Plans are intended 
to assist in identifying gaps in foster carers skills and knowledge and to ensure that 
they can meet their obligations under the Foster Carer Service Agreement. Some 
training will be mandatory and other training is voluntary.  Failure to attend training that 
has been identified as appropriate could place the continuing approval of a foster carer 
at risk.  

         
 
12.4  With the new revised arrangement for fees and allowances a more individualised 

learning programme which focuses on further development of foster carers 
knowledge, skills and experience in areas of their interest and areas specific to the 
needs of the child or young person in placement will be promoted. 

 
12.5   Ideally, Wolverhampton prefer foster carers to attend live face to face training, as this 

is not only informative but gives carers the opportunity to meet other carers and form 
local connections, but we recognise that people learn in different ways and have other 
commitments that make attendance at a  course problematic. Therefore we offer foster 
carers the opportunity to undertake some courses via a distance learning option and 
we have introduced a large number of online training courses. We are committed to 
continuing to develop our courses so we can present foster carers with the best 
training available. We will continually assess our courses to ensure they meet the 
changing needs of foster carers. Foster carers complete an evaluation of the training 
they have attended and this together with the foster carers Annual Review enables us 
to look at areas that need to be improved or developed. Page 31



 

 

16 

 

 

 
12.6   Keep Foster Carers Supported and Trained (KEEP)  is a 16 week interactive learning 

experience for foster carers designed by Oregon .Its aim is to equip carers with a 
variety of practical skills for caring /parenting. 

           There are two programmes one for children under 12, and the other for carers of 
young people over 12. The course provides foster carers with a framework for 
understanding behaviours and developing skills to strengthen the relationship with the 
children placed with them, and enhance their self- esteem, giving praise, positive 
attention, and tangible rewards. The programmes make an invaluable contribution to 
the support and retention of foster carers and also to the stability of placements. Of the 
courses completed over a period of four years, there has only been three placement 
disruptions reported.  

 
12.7   As outlined above we will continue to enhance the training and development of foster 

carers  as we have successfully employed a full time training officer  who will give 
focus to the training and development of foster carers, and who will introduce more 
interface between the foster carers and technological developments, whereby  foster 
carers can access online training and development guide to courses ,with booking 
system on line where  times, dates, venues, programmes, etc. can be managed by the 
foster cares, where they can  also apply to attend training courses in a number of 
ways, either via the webpage, via the post, via emails. 

 
 
12.8   Additionally, at the end of March 2016 90% of mainstream foster carers, shared care 

foster carers and Connected Persons Carers had successfully completed the Training 
Support and Development standards (TADS). Newly registered foster carers are being 
supported to achieve the standards within twelve months of approval. This is facilitated 
by the TSD workshops.  

 
13.0 Fostering Panel 
 
13.1 The work of the panel is governed by the Fostering Services Regulations 2011. 

The Care Planning, Placement and Case Review And Fostering Services 
(Miscellaneous Amendments) Regulations 2013, The National Minimum Standards for 
Adoption 2011. The Care Planning and Fostering (Miscellaneous Amendments) 
(England) Regulations 2015.  The panel must advise on: 

o On reviews of approvals( Regulation 28),and monitor their effectiveness 
o Oversee the conduct of assessments 
o Give advice and make recommendations on any other matters referred to it  

 
13.2   The panel makes recommendations to the Agency Decision Maker who is the Head of 

Service, for Looked after Children within 10 working days of the panel meeting. The 
Head of Children in Need and Child Protection deputises in the absence of The Head 
of Service Looked After Children. 

 
13.3  The panel also have a quality assurance role, offering feedback on the quality and 

content of reports submitted and the presentation and knowledge of the social workers 
attending, by way of a Performance Management Form. The quality assurance 
extends to how the panel members are prepared for their task and each panel 
member is asked to complete feedback forms on a range of tasks during the panel 
process.  This also extends to all attending the panel with the appropriate feedback 
forms are available for attendees to complete should they wish to do so. 

 

Page 32



 

 

17 

 

 

13.4  It has been a busy period for the fostering panel, with a steady flow of foster carer 
approvals and deregistration of 20 foster carers. There has been a steady increase in 
the number of placements made with Connected Persons Carers. Foster carer first 
annual reviews have been presented to panel, as have reviews requiring change of 
approval category, and reviews following concerns or allegations, and an increased 
number of permanency decisions for children. 

 

13.5 A Permanence Panel has been introduced to the panels over the last year.  The 
Wolverhampton City Council Adoption & Permanence Panel considers approvals of 
prospective adopters, Connected Persons Carers and match /link of adoptive and long 
term fostering placements and Connected Persons Carers. This is working within the 
terms of Wolverhampton Permanence Policy. The Adoption & Permanence Panel 
complies with regulations and guidance relevant to both adoption and fostering:  
Adoption agencies (Panel and Consequential Amendments) Regulations 2012. The 
Adoption Agencies (Miscellaneous amendments) regulations 2013. The Care 
Planning, Placement and Case Review and Fostering Services (amendments) 
Regulations 2015; The Fostering Regulations 2011.Panel members from the Central 
list with both adoption and fostering experience makes up the permanence panel. The 
composition of Fostering Panels, terms of reference and functions are set out in the 
Fostering Services (England) Regulations 2011. This constitution and terms of 
reference provides the framework for the operation of the Adoption & Permanence 
Panel. It will be reviewed annually. 

 
 
13.6  In line with good practice, and the Fostering Regulation (2011), there is an 

independent chair and three independent panel members, two with fostering 
experience, one previous foster carer. One independent member is also the Vice 
Chair. The panel attendance remains high, demonstrating a high commitment from 
members who have been panel members with Wolverhampton for some time.  

 
13.7   The Central list consists of two previous looked after children, foster carers, adoptees, 

adopters and a Councillor. There is an over representation of women on the panel and 
attempts are being made to resolve this to be more reflective of the communities in 
Wolverhampton, and the children for whom we are responsible. There have been four 
members added to the Central list, with enquiries being attended from two young 
people who were formerly Looked After. 

 
13.8    The panel has access to legal and medical advice as required. It is not a statutory 

requirement for a legal advisor to be present, but legal advice must be accessible 
where required. 

 
13.9 Wolverhampton Fostering panel meets once each month and the Permanence Panel 

also meets once a month, and over the review period have had 25 meetings in order 
to meet the demands of the service. In the main the work focused on approvals of 
fostering assessments, foster carers de-registration due to safeguarding concerns, 
and not fostering due to remaining dormant, first and subsequent foster home review 
of foster carers were heard, including changes of approval category, as were 
Connected Persons Carers matters. Matches for long term fostering and children’s 
long term fostering best interest decisions were agreed through the Virtual Panel. 

 
13.10 Development over this period has seen the flexible approach to the use of resources, 

such as the Adoption Panel as appropriate is utilised as an Adoption and Permanency 
panel.  This is so that there is a throughput and progress of children’s permanency Page 33



 

 

18 

 

 

cases which would otherwise sit on a waiting list. This involves the formal matching of 
looked after children who have a plan of long term fostering with long term or 
permanent carers, and also those who are placed with Connected Persons Carers 
placements. This has offered the service greater flexibility and expediency in securing 
permanency for looked after children. This has been a real success and will continue 
going forward to support timeliness. 

 
 All panels have now fully embraced paperless working; with the panel matters being 

filtered through a dedicated secure site on the Share Point .It is also accessible to the 
Agency Decision Maker ratifying the decisions and panel members.  Visitors or 
observers to the site also have temporary access to follow the panel deliberation.  All 
panel matters are now dealt with electronically. 

 
13.11 Fostering matters have been heard at both the Fostering Panel and the Adoption and 

Permanence panel giving a total of twenty five panels throughout the year.  There are 
usually six items to the panel agendas, with the capacity to hear up to four first foster 
home reviews in addition. 

  

Outcomes 2015/16 

Meetings 25 

Matters Heard  124 

Approvals  20 

Deregistration 4 

Resignations 27 

Deferred  16 

Foster Home R 10 

Connected 
Person Carers 20 

Matches 24 

Long term F BID 37 

 

 
             
13.12 Training is offered to panel members to ensure that they understand their 

responsibility as panel members and are also up to date with the legal requirements 
and legislation relevant to children in care. Over the last year there have been 
increased opportunities for panel members to undertake joint training with the 
Fostering and Adoption team and also for them to take part in the online training open Page 34



 

 

19 

 

 

to City Council employees.  The online training can be accessed via the Panel Pods, 
where the panel papers are stored.  They also have access to the Learning hub, 
where each member can undertake all the mandatory training defined by the 
department and also any other training of relevant to their task. The induction 
programme for new panel members has been strengthened, and will be modified 
accordingly the panel advisor. 

 
There have also been opportunities to take part in training set up by partner agencies, 
which several members have utilised. Panel members are also are able to access the 
Wolverhampton Safeguarding Board training as required.   
 

13.13 Each panel member has a yearly appraised which is conducted by the panel chair and 
the professional advisor.  The appraisal consists of self- evaluation and a face to face 
meeting. 

  
13.14 Complaints/Compliments:  There have not been any major concerns received about 

the running of the panel.  However feedback forms from panel members and some 
service users always point to a good service with areas for improvement for which we 
constantly try to improve.  

 
 
13.15  Waiting times for applicant’s cases to be heard have improved, although this still 

needs to be monitored, as there is room for further adjustments.  
 
 
14 Complaints about the service    
 
14.1   There were nine complaints received about the fostering service during the year, none 

of which were from children. This was lower than the previous year, and compares 
favourably with the national average of 18% of complaints that were from fostered 
children. 

 

14.2   These complaints largely resulted from the re-organisation of children services which 
have been embedded. There were also features of poor communication. This has 
resulted in some work with colleagues across Children in Need, Looked after Children, 
Child protection services, and foster carers to improve the situation. At the same time, 
there have also been compliments   from foster carers regarding the support they have 
received from social workers.  The service reviews complaints, learns from them and 
makes adjustments and improvements. 

 
15.0 Private Fostering  
 
15.1  The Fostering Service is responsible for the assessment and monitoring of Private 

Fostering Arrangements in Wolverhampton, as stipulated under the Children (Private 

Arrangements for Fostering) Regulations 2005.  
 
15.2  Research indicates that at least 50% of notifications come from children services, 

because usually the young person, or children are known to the department, and the 
young person has made their own arrangements. The other 40% are usually from the 
carers themselves, or through schools. 

 
15.3  The Local Authority is responsible for raising awareness to ensure that the public is 

aware of its duty to notify the Local Authority of all Private Fostering arrangements. 
Over the last year the service has concentrated on publicity through schools, and 

Page 35



 

 

20 

 

 

meeting with the lead safeguarding officers, reviewing and renewing its publicity 
through materials for various uses. 
  

15.4   The number of children and young people in Private Fostering arrangements 
 fluctuates, and this year there have been 10 notifications. Subsequently, 10  

private fostering assessments were considered, 1 of which went on to Private 
Fostering Arrangement and two  are currently on-going.  

 
The table below shows the Private Fostering Activity for 2015/16: 

 

 
15.5 Management oversight is provided through supervision. In addition the Private 

Fostering Assessment is approved by the Designated Fostering Decision Maker, Head 
of Looked After Children services.  

 
15.6 Private foster carers have access to the fostering service training. 
  
16.0 Financial Package for Foster Carers   
 
16.1  In January 2016 the new fees and allowances were introduced 
 
16.2  Foster carers receive a weekly allowance to cover all living costs associated to the 

child/ren they care for. Wolverhampton rates follow those recommended by the 
Department for Education (DfE) and are usually increased annually. The rates vary 
according to the age of the child.  Foster carers are expected to open a bank account 
to encourage children to save some of their money. Guidance is given regarding the 
amount to be spent on pocket money and savings. Birthday, holiday and festival 
allowances are paid in addition to the above. The new Fostering Fees and Allowances 
scheme has now moved from a scheme that rewards retention of foster carers to one 
that also supports the skills, experience and expertise of foster carers to meet the 
needs of our Looked After Children. As part of the scheme foster carers receive a fee 
based upon their experience and expertise and they are rewarded if they take more 
than one child. Foster carers are now expected to care for children in a wider age 
range and are approved to care for children on a temporary, permanent and 

Page 36



 

 

21 

 

 

emergency basis. The revised reward scheme will provide greater placement choice 
and reduce Wolverhampton’s reliance on external provision. 

 
17.0    Working in Partnership / Feedback from User participation 
 
17.1   The Fostering Service encourages feedback from foster carers to promote on- going 
 development and learning for the Fostering Service. On an annual basis, for their 
 yearly review, foster carers are asked to comment on the quality of support they 
 receive. In addition, foster carers have the opportunity to make comments at foster 
 carers forum, support groups, the Corporate Parenting Board and other meetings        
 which  they attend. The Fostering Service also sends out an annual questionnaire to 
 children and carers to ascertain their views on the service they receive. 

 
17.2  Over the past year steps have been taken to strengthen the relationship with 

Wolverhampton foster carers. This has ranged from consultations, meetings attended 
by senior managers and Lead Elected Members. It is expected that meetings will 
continue with fostering managers to further strengthen the relationship.  

 
18.0 Summary 

 
18.1 Overall the work of the Fostering Service has increased significantly and brought with 
 it the challenge of meeting the individual demands of the various timescales in 
 different parts of the service. In addition to recruiting and supporting foster carers, the 
 team works with the Adoption Service when placing children in adoption placements,          
 Child Appreciation Days and introductions of children into adoptive placements. 

 
 
 
19.0. Future Service Development/Challenges for the next year  
 

 Reduce the numbers of children placed in external foster care placements. This will 
be achieved by increasing internal capacity by  creating additional new placements 
(for new and existing carers) and “stretching” existing carers in terms of numbers of 
children placed, age and complexity of need. 

 
 Contribute to the reduction in the numbers of children who are looked after through 

increasing the numbers of permanence orders secured (Special Guardianship and 
Child Arrangement Orders). This will be supported through the re-launch of the 
Permanence Strategy, including the amended permanence Financial Support 
Policy. 

 
 Recruit foster carers to Specialist Fostering Scheme. 

 
 To embed the new Fees and Allowances Payments structure that will engage and 

reward foster carers for the work they do.   
 

Key Improvements 
 

 The focus on Private Fostering needs to continue to be strengthened. This needs 
to include more awareness training for partner agencies. 

 Recruit key personnel to create stability  within the service so that the 
development of the service can be progressed  

Page 37



 

 

22 

 

 

 To develop “Specialist Foster Service” to cater for the effects of the emotional 
impact of trauma for children and young people, to promote children’s placement 
stability and the development of resilience for looked after children. 

 Continue to implement KEEP Safe training  
 

 To progress developments within the units to enable them to respond efficiently 
and effectively to the needs of the wider children’s service.  

 To continue to review recruitment materials and processes 
 Update all statutory materials in line with regulatory requirements 

Page 38



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

Corporate Parenting Board 
22 September 2016 
 

Report title Adoption Agency Report 2015/2016 
  

Cabinet member with lead 
responsibility 

Councillor Val Gibson 
Children and Families 

Wards affected All 

Accountable director Linda Sanders, People 

Originating service Children and Young People 

Accountable employee(s) Shirley Gounder 

Tel 

Email 

Senior  Social Work Manager  

01902 553010 

shirley.gounder@wolverhampton.gov.uk 

Report to be/has been 

considered by 

 

 

 

The report has not been considered at 

any other meetings 

 

 

Recommendation(s) for action or decision: 

 

The Corporate Parenting Board is recommended to: 

 

1. Receive, observe and provide feedback on the Wolverhampton City Council Adoption 

Service Interim Report. 

 

  

Page 39

Agenda Item No: 7



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

1.0 Purpose 

 

1.1 This report details the work of City of Wolverhampton Council Adoption Service in the 

year March 2015 to April 2016.The purpose of the report is to provide updated 

information in relation to adoption locally and nationally. 

 

2.0 Background 

 

2.1 Adoption Reform Agenda 

 

2.1.1 The Adoption Reform Agenda has been on-going since the latter part of 2011, and as 

well as the introduction of new legislation four papers have been released.  

 

2.1.2 An Action Plan for Adoption: Tackling Delay, March 2012; Further Action on Adoption: 

Finding More Loving Homes, January 2013 and Regionalising Adoption, June 2015. 

Adoption: A Vision for Change, March 2016 

 

2.1.3 The Adoption Leadership Board was launched in April 2014:   

 

2.1.4 The Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) is a national board with a remit to drive significant 

improvements in the performance of the adoption system in England.  

 

2.1.5 Regionalising Adoption, June 2015: 

 

2.1.6 Regionalising Adoption is the most recent Department for Education (DfE) paper and 

outlines the Government’s plans to reduce the number of adoption agencies across 

England.  It is argued that fewer adoption agencies would achieve more economies of 

scale and would allow quicker matching for children.  It is anticipated that local authorities 

will have a wider pool of adopters who could potentially meet the needs of a child for 

whom they were considering adoption.   

 

2.1.7 Wolverhampton, Dudley, Walsall, Sandwell, Telford and Wrekin, Shropshire and 

Adoption Focus (a voluntary adoption agency) submitted a regionalisation proposal to 

access funds with the purpose of developing a single sub-regional adoption service. The 

group have been successful in securing £56,000 in 2015/16 and £154,000 in 2016/17 

from the Department of Education (DfE) to scope the best possible means of delivering a 

single adoption service in line with the regionalising adoption agenda.  

 

2.1.8 Adoption UK and After Adoption have joined the partnership to create Adoption @heart.  

 

2.1.9 It is anticipated that any new model will build on the existing Adoption in the Black 

Country (ABC) and Adoption Focus model. Recruitment and assessment, family finding 

and adoption support are the three main areas that are likely to be delivered through a 

regional adoption service. 

 

 

 

Page 40



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

2.2 Panel Business 

 

2.2.1 Below are the number of adopters approved and the number of children matched with 

prospective adopters between April 2015 and March 2016.  

 

Approval of Prospective 

adopters 

Matches of children with 

prospective 

adopters 

20 39 

 

2.3 Adopter approval 

 

2.3.1 There have been 20 approvals of prospective adopters in the reporting period.  

 

2.3.2 ABC and AF agencies continue to experience a growth in enquiries and subsequent 

referrals. In this period ABC and AF held 33 information events which means that 

prospective adopters on average waited no longer than 11 days to attend an event.  

 

2.3.3 45 initial assessments were completed, 24 prospective Adopter reports were completed 

and  20 adopters were approved. 22 were mainstream adopters and 2 were inter-country 

adopters.  

 

2.3.4 There are five Asian families currently waiting.  One couple have had a child placed 

under foster for adoption arrangements. Two other families have very precise matching 

criteria and Wolverhampton have not yet been able to identify a match. Family finding 

has been active on their behalf and they have been advised to attend National Exchange 

Days. They have also been featured on Adoption Links which is a national adoption data 

base, the National Adoption Register and Adopt West Mids. 

 

2.4 Links of children with prospective adopters 

 

2.4.1 During the reporting period April 2015 to March 2016, 39 children were matched with 

prospective adopters.   

 

2.4.2 12 of the 39 children matched at panel were part of a sibling group.  

 

2.4.3 When considering the ethnicity of the children matched, six of the 39 children were of 

black and minority ethnic (BAME) background.   

 

2.4.4 Of the 39 children matched 10 were over three, with seven of these being boys over the 

age of five. 

 

2.4.5 The A2 indicator measures the average time between a local authority receiving court 

authority to place a child and the local authority deciding on a match to an adoptive 

family. The current target is four months. 

 

Page 41



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

2.4.6 100% of children who have become subject to a placement order in this reporting year 

have been matched within four months.  

 

2.4.7 The adoption service is committed to increasing the number of foster for 

adoption/concurrency placements; during this reporting period five placements have 

been approved. 

 

2.4.8 There has been one adoption disruption in this reporting period.  This is the first in three 

years, and Wolverhampton remains well below average with regards to adoption 

disruptions. 

 

2.4.9 20 of the children matched were placed with adopters approved by Wolverhampton; the 

remainder were placed with adopters approved by other local authorities or voluntary 

agencies. 

 

2.5 Children’s decisions 

 

2.5.1 During this reporting period 52 children have had a decision of “Should be Placed for 

Adoption” (SBPFA) decisions made. There is a dip in the number of Children for Whom 

Wolverhampton is pursuing a plan of adoption. It is however to be acknowledged that the 

number of children for whom SBPFA decisions were made in 2014/2015 were unusually 

high.  

 

2.5.2. 50 placement orders were granted in 2015/2016. 19 were for females and 31 for males.  

 

2.5.3 As outlined in a previous Annual Adoption Report, in 2014 a judgement was passed by 

Mr Justice Munby (President of the Family Division of the High Court of England and 

Wales) that significantly changed the adoption landscape across the country. Re B (June 

2013) and B-S (Sept 2013) challenged the robust nature of adoption plans and decision 

making both in relation to social work reports and court judgments. As a direct result local 

authorities began to see the numbers of placement order being granted decreasing and 

by November 2014 it was reported that nationally placement orders had decreased by 

54%. 

 

2.5.4 Of the 50 children 35 children were White British, seven were Black British Caribbean, 

five were dual heritage, White British Black Caribbean or dual heritage, White British 

Asian and four were White Other. 

 
2.5.5  In terms of age 32 children were aged 0-2, 14 children were aged 3-5 and four children 

were 6 or above. 
 

3.0 Strategic issues and forward plans 

 

3.1.1 Wolverhampton remains committed to adoption as a positive permanence choice for 

children who cannot be cared for by their birth relatives.  The service has welcomed the 

governments challenge around timeliness for children who have a plan of adoption, it is 

well accepted that age at placement is one predictor impacting on positive outcomes for 

Page 42



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

children who are placed for adoption.  Wolverhampton is therefore committed to 

continuing to improve timeliness for children. 

 

3.1.2 A key feature of the Adoption Service improvement plan is to increase the recruitment of 

adopters who can consider offering early permanence options to children either through 

concurrent planning or foster to adopt. This has been echoed by the government who 

have set a soft target of doubling such placements during 2016/2017.  

 

3.1.3 The Adoption Service has demonstrated the ability to embrace new ways of working in 

order to improve outcomes for children. It is expected that closer working within the 

region as described above will lend itself to ensuring that children are matched without 

delay with adopters who are able to meet their long term needs. 

 

3.1.4 As the regionalising agenda is progressed it will be important to ensure that the team 

continues to build on previous success. This will include further improving timeliness, 

recruiting more adopters who will consider concurrency and foster to adopt and 

remaining ambitious for harder to place children to ensure they are offered the 

opportunities they deserve. 

 

4.0 Financial implications 

 

4.1 The approved budget for 2015/16 for the Adoption Service was £2.8 million. 

 
4.2 The government has made funds available that will allow the local authority to claim back 

the inter-agency fee when placements are made for harder to place children. Eligibility 
criteria includes children who have been waiting for 18 months or more since coming into 
care at the time of placement, who are aged five or over at the time of placement, who 
are in a sibling group of two or more and placed as siblings at the time of placement, 
children who are from a BAME background and children who are disabled.   

 
4.3 Wolverhampton has placed over 50% of children through inter agency placements for a 

number of years.  The fund however, has allowed the City of Wolverhampton Council to 
continue to make these placements in financially challenging times. During 2015/2016 
Wolverhampton has claimed reimbursement of £184,000 for the interagency fee grant. 
The Government has recently informed Local Authorities that the grant will continue until 
October 2016.  

 NN/12092016/0 

 

5.0 Legal implications 

 

5.1 The Education and Adoption Act 2016 amends functions outlined in the Adoption and 

Children Act 2002 requiring local authorities to make arrangements for their adoption 

functions (recruitment, assessment and approval) to be carried out, which can include 

functions being carried out by another adoption agency. 

 TC/13092016/U 

 

 

Page 43



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

6.0 Equalities implications 

 

6.1 Wolverhampton seeks to recruit and purchase adopters who are able to meet the needs 

of a diverse range of children.  

This includes children of different black and minority ethnic groups, both young and older 

children, male and female children.  This is reflected within the recruitment strategy and 

all new policies have been subject to an equalities analysis. 

 

7.0 Environmental implications 

 

7.1 There are no environmental implications 

 

8.0 Human resources implications 

 

8.1 Regionalisation will have human resources implications but the extent of these is not 

known at present. Human resources will be considered as part of the scoping exercise. 

 

9.0 Corporate landlord implications 

 

9.1 There are no corporate landlord implications. 

 

10.0 Schedule of background papers 

 

The Annual Adoption Report March 2015 - March 2016 is attached. 

 

11.  Appendix 1 - Comments from the Children in Care Council 

 

11.1 The report was accepted by the CICC on 07/09/16 and they asked the following questions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 44



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

 

The CICC were asked how many adoptions have the City of Wolverhampton undertaken during 

the last year; one young person suggested 50 while another suggested 38.  The CICC were 

asked how many disruptions they thought occurred during the year and gave answers such as 

‘30%’ and ‘loads’. The answers were given during the discussion of the annual adoption report.   

 

1. A question was asked if there was an age range for adoption. One young person said 

she was 5 when she entered care and was told at 5 years old, she was too old as the cut 

off was 4 years. It was explained that previously the view was held by some 

professionals that children aged 5 may not be able to be adopted. 

 

It was explained that the City of Wolverhampton have an ambitious view that children up 

to 10 or beyond depending on circumstances can be considered for adoption. One care 

leaver who sits on the Adoption panel gave an example of a child aged 8 being approved 

for adoption.  

 

2. Does panel decide who gets adopted and who stays in foster care?  

 

The panel and decision making process was explained.  

 

3.  Has life story training helped adopters to understand the background history of the 

children?  

 

It was confirmed it has.  

 

Discussions were had around social media and one young person gave examples of 

their mother being on Facebook and how this had been problematic.   

 

4. Is there anything in place when social media is accessed i.e. to have life story work in 

place and adopted children are aware of their background before they are contacted by 

parents via social media for example so information does not come as a shock from 

parents? I.e. parents may be ‘sour’ about their adoption and this could be a problem. 

Thanked the young people for this good point made.  

 

A care leaver who sits on fostering panel gave a comment that being on panel has 

opened her eyes at how in-depth the assessment process is.  

 

5. What happens if there is an adoption breakdown? What support is in place? 

Examples shared about working with CIN/CP social workers and adoption support 

provision   

 

6. Can you use TV adverts to recruit adopters? Newspapers are ok but TV would be better 

but then not everyone accesses media in this way so need to be creative i.e. radio 

broadcasts. Marketing examples were explained and the CICC were directed to page 19 

in the annual report which outlined an innovative marketing campaign targeting adopters 

in recruiting siblings.  

 

Page 45



This report is PUBLIC  
[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

 
 

7. What happens to sibling contact if not placed together? Discussion had around together 

and apart sibling assessments and contact.  

 

8. Can letterbox contact be resumed if stopped? Details taken. Discussion had around use 

of email and Skype rather than letterbox. Two young people shared how contact had 

ceased with siblings. Discussions took place individually following the session with the 

promise that the adoption team would explore contact arrangements and contact the 

young people/foster carer with the outcome.   

 

 

Page 46



1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ANNUAL ADOPTION AGENCY REPORT 

 APRIL 2015 – March 2016 

 

 

 

 

 

 

AUTHOR: SHIRLEY GOUNDER – SENIOR SOCIAL WORKER 

MANAGER (INTERIM FOSTERING & ADOPTION) 

  

Page 47



2 
 

Introduction 

This report details the work of City of Wolverhampton Council Adoption 
Service in the year April 2015 to March 2016. 

The report also aims to give updated information in relation to adoption 

both nationally and locally.  It includes legislative and practice changes, 
and how these have impacted on those affected by adoption in 

Wolverhampton.  

Legislation 

There have been some significant changes to regulations under the 
Adoption Reform Agenda and the Children and Families Act 2014 – this 

Act received Royal Ascent in March 2014.   

The key areas addressed in this legislation were  

1. Contact between prescribed persons and adopted person’s relatives. 

a. This provision allows for relatives of adoptees to access the 
adoption records of a deceased relative and undertake a search for 

birth relatives. The adoption team have this far received one 

request of this nature from the daughter of an adoptee.  
 

2. Placement of looked after children with prospective adopters. 
a. This places a duty on the local authority to consider placing a child 

with foster to adopt carers in cases where the child’s plan is likely 
to become one of permanence. 

 
Workshops have been delivered to Social Work Unit Managers 

explaining this duty in the context of permanency planning. In 
2014/2015 two concurrent placements were made. From this the 

adoption team have gained experience around supporting 
concurrent/foster to adopt carers through the uncertainties of the 

court process successfully. 
 

3. Repeal of requirement to give due consideration to ethnicity: England. 

 
4. Recruitment, assessment and approval of prospective adopters. 

a. This allows the Secretary of State to direct local authorities to 
make arrangements for the recruitment, assessment and approval 

of prospective adopters to be carried out on their behalf by one or 
more adoption agencies.  

 
5. Adoption support services: personal budgets. 

a. Where adoption support services are agreed the local authority 
must make provision for the payment of personal budgets if asked 

to do so by the recipient of the services. Wolverhampton has not 
yet received any requests for personal budgets. 

Page 48



3 
 

 

6. Adoption support services: duty to provide information. 
a. This places a duty to provide information about adoption support 

services to any family who has or is interested in adoption a child. 
 

Wolverhampton continues to use its unique adoption passport that 
contains all required information and is given to prospective 

adopters on all initial visits. 
 

 
 

7. The Adoption and Children Act Register. 

a. This made the provision for approved prospective adopters to be 
able to search the adoption register themselves in order to identify 

possible matches. 
 

The National Adoption Register does not yet have the functionality 
to allow adopters to search.  This is still in development. 

 

8. Contact: post-adoption. 
a. This strengthened the rights of birth relative, adoptees, 

adopters and other significant individual’s to obtain a contact 
order from the courts after an adoption order has been made. 

 

The adoption team is not aware of any applications being made to 
the court for a contact order in respect of children who were placed 

by Wolverhampton Local Authority 

A further piece of legislation is currently proposed within the Education 

and Adoption Bill 2015.  This would enact powers, for the Secretary of 

Page 49



4 
 

State to direct one or more local authorities in England to make 

arrangements for all or some of their functions to be carried out by one of 
those local authorities, or through one or more other adoption agencies. 

Case Law 

In 2014 a judgement was passed by Mr Justice Munby (President of the 
Family Division of the High Court of England and Wales) that significantly 

changed the adoption landscape across the country. Re B (June 2013) 
and B-S (Sept 2013) challenged the robust nature of adoption plans and 

decision making both in relation to social work reports and court 
judgments. As a direct result local authorities began to see the numbers 

of placement order being granted decreases and by November 2014 it 

was reported that nationally placement orders had decreased by 54%.  

Mr Justice Munby has since has emphasised in other court judgements Re 

CW (Nov 2014) and Re R (Dec 2014) the importance of adoption.  Mr 
Justice Munby stated that “Where adoption is in the child’s best interests, 

local authorities must not shy away from seeking, nor courts from 

making, care orders with a plan for adoption, placement orders and 
adoption orders.  

Adoption Reform Agenda 

The adoption reform agenda has been on-going since the latter part of 
2011 and as well as introducing new legislation two papers have been 

released.  

An Action Plan for Adoption: Tackling Delay, March 2012 

Further Action on Adoption: Finding More Loving Homes, January 2013 

The Adoption Leadership Board was launched in April 2014   

The Adoption Leadership Board (ALB) is a new national board with a remit 

to drive significant improvements in the performance of the adoption 
system in England. It has a particular focus on supporting and challenging 

the adoption system to maximise the likelihood that:  

 Children for whom adoption is the best way of achieving 
permanence are adopted without unnecessary delay;  

 There are enough prospective adopters to provide homes for all the 
children approved to be adopted; and  

 Adoptions do not break down through the right adoption support 
being readily available to all people who need it.  (ALB Core brief 

2014) 

The ALB was chaired by Sir Martin Narey. Its members include senior 
figures from the Association of Directors of Children’s Services (ADCS), 

the Local Government Association, the Consortium of Voluntary Adoption 

Page 50



5 
 

Agencies, University of Bristol – Hadley Centre for Adoption and Foster 

Care Studies and Adoption UK. 

Following this Regional Adoption Leadership Boards were launched. More 

about the regional adoption leadership board’s role is outlined later in this 
report. 

Regionalising Adoption, June 2015 

The latter is the most recent and outlines the Government’s agenda to 

reduce the number of adoption agencies across England.  It is argued that 
fewer adoption agencies would achieve more economies of scale and 

would allow quicker matching for children.  It is anticipated that local 
authorities will have a wider pool of adopters who could potentially meet 

the needs of a child for whom they were considering adoption.   

Wolverhampton is currently talking with the other agencies that make up 
Adoption in the Black Country and Adoption Focus and other Voluntary 

Adoption Agencies (VAA’s) to discuss how the partnership can be 
strengthened to meet the requirements of the regionalisation agenda.  

 

Regional and local developments 

Adoption Leadership Boards 

The West Midlands Adoption Leadership Board is chaired by Tony Oakman 
( Strategic Director People Services at Dudley Metropolitan Borough 

Council). The board is made up of senior leaders from the 14 local 

authorities that make up the west Midlands region.  

Adopt West Mids 

Adopt West Mids remains a strong regional consortium, which offers 

mentors, training, peer learning and development, a database exchange 
for children and families, and regional recruitment.  Adopt West Mids has 

also facilitated 5 Activity days in conjunction with BAAF during this 
reporting period. 

Adopt West Mids is made up of adoption operational managers, it’s role 

and purpose is however in flux , Adopt West Mids is likely to be viewed 
and utilised as the delivery arm of the regional ALB. 

Black Country Consortium (Adoption in the Black Country and Adoption 

focus) ABC 

Wolverhampton continues to be a part of this consortium looking at joint 
initiatives in adoption. This consortium has continued to work 

collaboratively over the last twelve months. 

Page 51



6 
 

ABC has continued to jointly purchase services from both Adoption U.K. 

and from After Adoption, as detailed below.   

The original remit of ABC was to recruit adopters for older children, sibling 

groups and those of minority ethnic groups.  However, although all 
promotional materials and campaigns still reflect this, enquiries are also 

accepted from potential adopters who fall outside this category.  The 

enquiries are equally shared throughout the four local authorities and 
Voluntary Adoption Agency. 

During the previous reporting period a scoping exercise was 
commissioned by the ABC.  This piece of work was undertaken by Core 

Assets and BAAF following a tendering process; with a view to considering 

future development of the ABC Consortium.   

 The purpose of this partnership was to further increase the pool of 

adopters available to children in the Black Country. Adoption Focus and 
ABC now jointly recruit, train and support prospective adopters with a 

view to increasing Adoption Focus adopter approval. These families will 

have Black Country children placed with them. 

Adoption Focus have recently appointed a family finder who keeps a data 

base of all children waiting for adoption in the Black Country, all children 
in the pipeline in the Black Country and all adopters available in ABC and 

Adoption Focus.  The role of this family finder is to ensure that links are 

made quickly within the consortium. This has already resulted in more 
matches being made within the consortium. 

As stated above, ABC and Adoption Focus along with other local 
authorities in the area is currently considering how it might change to 

meet the requirements of the regionalising adoption agenda. 

 

Team structure 

SENIOR SOCIAL WORKER MANAGER 
 

 

Family Finding & Adoption Support 
Social Worker Unit Manager 

 
Social Workers x 5 

 

 

Family Support Worker x 2 

 

 

Adoption Social Work Team 

Social Worker Unit Manager 

Page 52



7 
 

Social Worker x 5 

Family Support Worker x 1 
 

 

Recruitment and Assessment  
Social Worker Unit Manager 

Social Worker x 4 
 

 

Unit Administrators x 2 
 

Adoption Panel Advisor x 1 

Adoption Panel members include an independent chairperson, 
independent vice chair, medical advisor, 3 independent members one 

independent social work, an adopter, a foster carer and an ex LA/adoptive 
young person. There are a range of other people who form a central list 

who sit on the adoption panel.   

 

As part of a wider restructure in June 2014 the adoption team was 

reconfigured into three units. A recruitment and assessment unit, a family 
finding and adoption support unit, and a children’s unit for children with a 

plan of adoption.  This placed all of the professionals involved in placing 

children for adoption and supporting those placements within the same 
team.  As a result we have been able to improve efficiency and place 

children for adoption in shorter timescales.  We have also been able to 
provide adoption specific training to all social workers involved in this 

process.  This has led to a more co-ordinated response to adoption 
support with all social workers involved working more closely together 

and sharing the same approach.  As a result we have found that adopters 
have valued the support offered by the service and have been confident 

to make their adoption applications earlier. 

 
Family Finding  

Achieving permanence, via whichever route, for a Wolverhampton child is 

uppermost in the agency’s priorities.  To help achieve timeliness early 
identification of children who are likely to have a plan of adoption 

commences; by attendance at a weekly admission to care panel which is 
attended by an adoption manager. Cases are identified as early alerts and 

a family finder allocated. Family Finders attendance at permanency 
planning meetings prior to a second LAC review ensures that statutory 

guidance of the 2002 Act is enacted to ensure that each looked after child 
has a plan of permanence that is achieved promptly.  

 

Page 53



8 
 

The data contained in this report will highlight family finding performance.  

In 2015/2016 Wolverhampton linked 39 children for adoption, which 
included six sibling groups; two comprising sibling groups of three, eight 

children aged five and over and six children of black and minority ethnic 
(BME) communities.  

With the government emphasis in improving the timeliness of children to 

be placed for adoption, this is an area which has been given priority 
within the team. We hold monthly family finding meetings to monitor and 

track family finding activity.  Within these meetings the adopters likely to 
be approved within the next eight weeks are discussed. Adopters who are 

likely to be approved have the opportunity to view profiles of children 
prior to their approval to seize opportunities for early matching. The 

introduction of pre-approval adopter profiles has also helped to support 
family finders gain a sense of the adopters likely to become available for 

children waiting or coming through.  

Additionally six weekly care planning tracking meetings take place to 
ensure that plans are progressed for children with a plan of adoption.  

Permanency planning meetings are coordinated with cases where there is 
a possibility of a care plan of adoption and there is on- going liaison with 

Child Protection/Children in Need teams to increase the uptake of these in 
order to improve timeliness.   

A Family Support Worker (FSW) assists in progressing family finding 

actions taking photographs, filming DVD’s and completing a profile of a 
child who could have a plan of adoption. The FSW also follows up 

potential links from ABC and AF Consortium, Adoption Register and 
Adoption Link (Link Maker) which is a web based family finding service 

that approved adopters can view. The advent of Link Maker has resulted 
in Wolverhampton Adoption Team linking harder to place children. 

Additionally we have continued to use Children Who Wait magazine 
publicised by Adoption UK for hard to place children.    

Wolverhampton Adoption Team attended five Adoption Register exchange 

events throughout 2015/2016 in London, Leeds, Manchester and Walsall.  

An Adoption Exchange Day is an event for approved prospective adopters 
looking for a child and adoption agencies who are trying to find a family 

for a child or sibling group. The aim of these days is to try and ensure 
children don’t have to wait unnecessarily for a suitable adoptive family.  

Exchange days tend to feature the profiles of children who have been 
waiting for a lengthy period or who are likely to prove more difficult to 

find a family for. These events are unlikely to feature single, white 
children under the age of three years who have no special needs. There 

were no links made at these events during 2015/2016.  

Page 54



9 
 

Wolverhampton attended three ABC and AF exchange events held in 

Birmingham where a single child was linked and interest expressed in an 
older child with a plan of open adoption.  

During 2015/2016 Wolverhampton Adoption team attended three activity 

days held across the region where we took seven children.  Adoption 
Activity Days allow prospective adopters to meet a range of children who 

are waiting to be adopted in a prepared, supported, safe and fun 
environment, they allow adopters to interact with children through 

activities, such as arts and crafts, sports and games. Adoption Activity 
Days are an addition to the existing range of family finding and matching 

practices, and are particularly helpful for children who have to wait much 
longer for permanence. 

Adoption Activity Days are entirely child-centred; predominantly an 

activity day for children and the most important factor is that the children 
have a fun and exciting day. Family support workers help prepare the 

children and their foster carer for the event.  Wolverhampton has utilised 
the events to give prospective adopters who have already expressed an 

interest in a child or children with more complex needs the opportunity to 
meet the child or children in question.  This has often reassured adopters 

with regards to their ability to meet the child’s needs and a link has been 
progressed to panel. This year three children; a single child and a sibling 

group who had a pre- link were successfully matched following an Activity 

event.   

With our partnership with ABC and AF this enables children to be placed 

locally without the risk of being placed in the local authority in which they 
were born. There are significant advantages for children and families as 

adoption support can be delivered locally by teams that know the children 

and families. To date we have placed seven children in a timely manner 
with ABC and AF adopters. 

Prior to a family being identified our Family Support workers begin 
working with older children who have a plan of adoption. The work 

considers the child’s relationship with their biological parents, helps them 

to understand they are not in foster care because they were bad,  helps 
the child understand the difference between foster care and adoption,  

explore different types of families and takes into consideration the  type 
of family the child wants and seriously considers the child’s wishes.  The 

work has proven to be very successful and to date all placements of older 
children remain intact. The feedback from Independent Reviewing 

Officer’s and external agencies has been very positive with a request by 
one agency for the programme we devised.  During 2015/2016 Family 

Support Workers worked with 14 single children and four sibling groups.  

Adoption Support consultations are undertaken with prospective adopters 
where children are aged three and over, those that have complex needs 

and sibling groups.  Consultations include exploring a child’s past 

Page 55



10 
 

experiences, consider how they communicate anxiety and distress, and 

explore the adopters understanding of attachment based parenting. This 
has also contributed to a significant amount of older children being placed 

in adoptive placements that remain intact. During 2015/2016 Post 
Adoption social worker’s worked with five single children and three sibling 

groups totalling 12 children.  

In August 2015 the Government made a grant available to local 
authorities in England for the purposes of reimbursing eligible expenditure 

under the Adoption Inter-Agency Fee Grant, for hard to place children 
whose plan is for adoption.  Eligibility criteria includes children who have 

been waiting for 18 months or more since coming into care at the time of 
placement, who are aged five or over at the time of placement, who are 

in a sibling group of two or more and placed as siblings at the time of 
placement, children who are from a BME background and children who 

are disabled.   
 

Wolverhampton has placed over 50% of children through inter agency 
placements for a number of years.  The fund however, has allowed the 

City of Wolverhampton Council to continue to make these placements in 
financially challenging times. During 2015/2016 Wolverhampton has 

claimed £184,000 for the interagency fee grant. The Government has 

recently informed local authorities that the grant will continue until 
October 2016.  

 

During 2015/2016 62 Adoption Orders  

Functions of the adoption team 

In addition to the functions outlined above, the Adoption Team continue 

to offer services in all areas of adoption with the main functions being, 
approval and support of prospective adopters through to adoption orders 

being granted, notified adoptions, voluntary relinquishments and inter 
country adoptions and family finding.   

 

Adoption scorecard 

The DfE releases the Adoption Scorecard every December. This reviews 
performance against a range of comparative data used to measure 

timeliness for children with a plan of adoption over a three year period. 

The data released each December relates to the year end of the previous 
31 March. 

The A1 indicator measures the average time between a child entering 
care and moving in with its adoptive family for children who have been 

adopted.  

Page 56



11 
 

The A2 indicator measures the average time between a local authority 

receiving court authority to place a child and the local authority deciding 
on a match to an adoptive family.  

 

These are the two headline indicators used when evaluating the LA’s 
performance in regards to timeliness of adoptions. The data released in 

December 2015 related to the three year period April 2012 to March 
2015. Internally Insight and Performance are able to produce initial 

figures of what we expect to be released in the scorecard in December 
from the data submitted in the quarterly ALB returns. Below documents 

Wolverhampton’s recent performance and predictions for the upcoming 

Adoption Scorecard release. 

 

Average days for the A1 indicator have decreased year on year 

significantly however this is against a target which is also declining. It is 
estimated the average days for 2012-2015 is 671 more than 200 lower 

than in 2011-2014 however the percentage over target remains similar. 

It was detailed in the scorecard analysis that the adoption team were 
making improvements year on year. It also highlighted some areas of 

good practice against the other indicators. 

In 2014 the A10 indicator was introduced. This measures the average 
time between a child entering care and being placed with their 

prospective adopters adjusted for foster carer adoptions (where times for 
children who are adopted by their foster carers are stopped at the date 

children were placed with their foster carers). In 2013-2016 it is predicted 
Wolverhampton’s A10 indicator will be 509 days down from 522 days in 

2012-2015. 

Wolverhampton remains committed to supporting foster carers to adopt 
children who have been in their care for a significant amount of time and 

where this is in the child’s best interests.  

Average days for the A2 indicator have also decreased although not at the 
same rate as the A1 indicator. Due to falling targets Wolverhampton are 

now on average taking twice as long for the A2 indicator than the target. 

  

2011

/14 

Tar

get 

% of 
Targ

et 

2012

/15 

Tar

get 

% of 
Targ

et 

2013/1

6 
Provisi

onal 

Tar

get 

% of 
Targ

et 

A1 873 547 
159.6

0% 734 487 
150.7

2% 671 428 
156.7

8% 

A2 294 152 
193.4

2% 263 121 
217.3

6% 252 121 
208.2

6% 

Page 57



12 
 

There were 135 adoptions in 2012-2015 compared to 163 in 2013-2016. 

This is another large increase that shows that whilst the time taken for a 
child to be adopted decreases the number of children being adopted have 

increased. 

In Wolverhampton 2012-2015 15% of BME children leaving care were 

adopted compared to an England average of just 9%.  

Over the past three years great efforts have been taken to place children 
who have been waiting to be adopted for a long time. Wolverhampton 

constantly balances the need for swift placement with not giving up on 
finding families for older children and children with complex needs. Last 

year there were 17 children aged five and over who were adopted and 

eight children aged five and over whom were placed for adoption. This 
has meant A1, A2 and A10 indicators have been increased due to long 

term LAC adoptions. In the Adoptions Scorecard these children will be 
counted in averages for three years. To show improvement within the 

service Wolverhampton also looks at their performance year on year. 

During 2015/2016, 62 children were adopted, the most in any year and a 
22% increase on 2014/2015 figures where 51 children were adopted.  

The average time taken to place children as measured by the A1 indicator 
was 652 days. Although this is an improvement on our three year average 

time, this is considerably higher than the scorecard reducing target of 428 

days. The A10 indicator was 518 days. 

The average time taken to place children as measured by the A2 indicator 

was 238 days. Again this is an improvement on previous years however 
remains, above the reduced scorecard target of 121 days. This data 

shows that although improvements are being made that averages are still 

considerably higher than national targets. 

 

Adoption support services   

The impact on a child, and their family, of being adopted is life changing 

and lifelong. Wolverhampton Adoption Team recognises that adopted 
children and their families need to be able to access appropriate and 

sensitive adoption support at any time in their lives. 

The Adoption Support Services Regulations 2005 specify a range of 
services that Wolverhampton adoption team provide. We have the 

equivalent of one and a half social workers dedicated to adoption support 
work and one part time post adoption contact co-ordinator.  Increasing 

the number of children adopted is our aim; however, this must be 
balanced alongside the need to provide good adoption support. 

 

Page 58



13 
 

The Adoption Support Fund (ASF) was established by the Government in 

May 2015 as they became aware that access to therapeutic support 
following adoption was required. The adoption support fund is a sum of 

money that is held centrally.  Local authorities can make applications to 
the fund on behalf of adopters for a range of therapeutic services 

following an adoption support assessment. 

Wolverhampton has undertaken 28 Assessment of Need assessments and 
applied for 18 therapeutic packages. Services have included Child & 

Adolescent Mental Health Service Assessment, therapeutic parenting 
courses; therapeutic life story work and psychotherapy.  Three monthly 

reviews are undertaken to identify family satisfaction and clinical 
outcomes.  

 
A number of pre-order adoptive placements with children deemed hard to 

place due to their age and history of trauma and maltreatment had been 
receiving psychotherapy. With the advent of the ASF pre-order funding, 

finance has been secured for 12 months resulting in adopters feeling 
confident to apply for the adoption order.  

 
Adoption support social workers continue to support adoptive families and 

we currently have 46 cases that are open to adoption support workers.  

Support to teenagers and their families can be a challenge. Julia Selwyn’s 
research Beyond the Adoption Order outlined the difficulties families can 

experience where they remain intact while experiencing great difficulties 
that impact on child and parents relationship, health and well -being.  It is 

no different for families in Wolverhampton that remain intact yet 
experience numerous challenges. The evidence of good adoption support 

in Wolverhampton is highlighted by the very low disruption rate. During 
2015/2016 there was just one disruption.  

 

The Adoption Team is currently able to offer a therapeutic parenting 
programme and Theraplay internally. The Adoption Team has invested 

heavily in providing access to therapeutic parenting programmes. One 
adoption support social worker attended four day training for Non-violent 

resistance (NVR offers a child-focused approach that rebuilds the 
relationship through de-escalation, acceptance and reconciliation, allowing 

the child's needs to be met through the love and care of unconditional 
positive regard) and another social worker attended a  four day DDP 

(Dyadic Developmental Psychotherapy- integrative method of 
psychotherapy developed for the treatment of children and young people 

who manifest serious psychological problems associated with complex 

trauma and serious failure to establish secure patterns of attachment).  

Additionally three social workers attended a one day DDP course and 

three social workers attended ‘Why can’t my child behave’ training. 

Page 59



14 
 

The post adoption contact (PAC) coordinator manages in excess of 389 

letter box exchange arrangements and provides support to birth families 
in writing and reading letters to provide good written contact for children.  

Maintaining contact with siblings is reported by children to be one of their 
highest priorities. Sibling contact can help a child maintain their identity 

and promote self-esteem. With that in mind the PAC coordinator is 

developing setting up contact between siblings adopted by different 
adoptive parents.  

Wolverhampton has provided an annual newsletter informing adopters 
about pupil premium, access to consortium training, the adoption support 

fund and the Governments plans for Regional Adoption Agencies. The aim 

is to provide quarterly newsletters, this will enable us to notify adopters 
about further training and inform them about the latest adoption themes 

and topics.   

City of Wolverhampton Council continues to work in partnership with the 

other Black Country Authorities i.e. Walsall, Sandwell and Dudley to 

purchase adoption support packages from Adoption U.K. and After 
Adoption enabling us to work in partnership with these organisations.  

These support packages provide services to adopters, adopted children, 
adopted adults and birth family members. 

In relation to Adoption U.K. the partnership agreement has been reviewed 

within this period to ensure we are purchasing an effective support 
package which meets the needs of approved adopters and prospective 

adopters. 

All prospective adopters continue to receive 12 months free membership 

to Adoption UK, unless they choose to opt out of this. Prospective 

adopters were offered the support of a buddy (adoptive parent mentor or 
parent consultant) who reflects their own situation.  This support was 

offered either at the point of being linked to a child or at any point during 
placement. 

All prospective adopters are invited to attend the Adoption Support Group 

run by Adoption UK on a bi-monthly basis.  Adoption UK is keen to ensure 
the success of this support group and have structured the meetings more 

formally to include speakers and presentations that are pre planned. This 
has been helpful and social workers can encourage adopters to attend 

relevant support groups. These meetings are held at in Walsall and 
Halesowen. This offers adopters the opportunity of meeting with other 

adopters at a group run by adopters themselves.  Adopters are also able 
to access Adoption UK training workshops.   

After Adoption continues to provide services on behalf of ABC.  The first is 

an existing service which provides support to adopted adults, adopted 
children and birth relatives.  The organisation supports intermediary 

Page 60



15 
 

services, counselling, and helping adopted adults to trace their birth 

family. 

After Adoption also offer independent counselling to all birth parents 

where the plan is adoption for their child. 

After Adoption continue to run 'Breaking the Cycle'.  Breaking the Cycle 
provides intensive one-to-one and group support to birth mothers in the 

Black Country (Wolverhampton, Sandwell, Walsall, and Dudley) who have 
lost at least one child to adoption. Birth mothers receive an initial 

assessment. Following this there are six group work sessions focusing on 
change, concentrating on building self-esteem whilst supporting positive 

life choices to break repetitive cycles. For women who want to have future 

children there are further sessions on nurturing parenting. At the end of 
the programme birth mothers can continue to attend support groups with 

other women who have completed the programme. 

In partnership with ABC ‘After Adoption' is commissioned to deliver 

'Safebase' twice per year within the Black Country.  This is a parenting 

programme which includes an initial MIMS assessment.  The feedback 
from adopters who have attended is positive.  After Adoption deliver 

Safebase across the country and Wolverhampton can access these 
courses for the prospective adopters of children who are placed out of the 

area, we can utilise a total of five places locally or nationally. Additionally 
we commissioned a further four places for adopters residing in various 

areas of the country. This has worked particularly well and has enabled 
the adoption team to be confident that prospective adopters caring for 

Wolverhampton children with more complex needs have a basic 
knowledge of attachment and therapeutic parenting. 

In addition to this, ABC and AF have a post approval training programme.  

This consists of four/five workshops each year.  The workshops are 
available to approved adopters who are waiting for a placement, those 

who have had a child placed, or those who have adopted.  The workshops 
include:  Education workshop for adopters and sensory integration.  

Panel Membership 

The Panel continues to function well supported by its committed members 

and support staff. 

The professional advisor to panel has continued to increase panel 

membership with the establishment of a central list of panel members. 

The professional advisor to panel has also further developed the 
permanency panel to incorporate general and adoption matters once a 

month.  This has increased panel availability for both fostering and 
adoption. 

Panel Business 

Page 61



16 
 

Panel met on 18 occasions 2015/2016. It was apparent that two panels 

would be required most months in order to service the needs of the 
adoption team due to the increased numbers of matches and adopter 

approvals. 

There are also procedures in place for convening emergency Panels when 

required. 

Children requiring a “should be placed for adoption decision” are not 
presented to panel as they proceed straight to the Agency Decision 

Maker.  The Agency Decision Maker sits twice a month but is also able 
make emergency decisions when required. 

See below a table depicting the panel business for the year.   

 

 

 

Recommen

dation that 

children 

should be 

placed for 

adoption 

Rescinding 

of adoption 

plan for 

children 

Approval of 

prospective 

adopters 

De-

registration 

of adopters 

Links of 

children 

with 

prospective 

adopters 

Disruption 

reports 

52 12 20 0 39 0  

 

 

 

Page 62



17 
 

 

ABC continues to experience a growth in numbers of enquiries and 
subsequent referrals.  In this period ABC held 33 information evenings 

meaning that adopters on average waited no longer than 11 days to 
attend an event. At each event a presentation about adoption is led by a 

senior manager and adopters have the chance to speak one to one with a 
social worker and decide whether they would like to progress to a home 

visit. Each agency has a social worker present at the events. In the last 
financial year Wolverhampton received 29 referrals for home visits from 

ABC information evenings.  

Page 63



18 
 

ABC marketing activity continued to be strong and through regular 

contact with the adoption managers within the consortium targeted to 
specific needs of the five organisations.  Specific highlights for the year 

have included: 
  

A targeted sibling’s campaign utilising outdoor media at Intu/Westfields 
Merry Hill Centre.  For a period of one month we were able to brand all lift 

access point driving footfall to a specific sibling’s information event held at 
an adjacent hotel.  The visuals (some of which are below) showed siblings 

being separated as the lift doors open with a clear ‘call to action’ to ‘adopt 
and keep the siblings together’.   

  

 

Our media partners Free Radio continue to offer strong support and one 

of our most successful recruitment mediums.  This year we have been 
fortunate enough to sponsor premium programs such as Freewind/Mid-

morning for three months, afternoons/early drive for three months and 
take a tailored Breakfast and Drive sponsorship package for two weeks 

per months for three months.  This has been on top of our structured 40 
second and 10 second recruitment marketing campaign. 

 

Free Radio advertising has been supported with other radio stations to 
ensure regional and demographic coverage.  These have notably been 

through presenter lead endorsement on Signal 107 and very fortunately 
we have been one of the first three organisations in the UK to utilise 

Instreaming Radio Advertising (the others being MGM James Bond and PC 
World).  Instreaming delivered through Absolute Radio allows those 

individuals listening through PC, tablet or Phone to see a visual animated 

advert as a pop-up as the radio advert plays.  For the first time ever this 

Page 64



19 
 

gives radio adverting an instant ‘call to action’ as by clicking the pop-up 

links to the Adoption in The Black Country website.  Those not listening on 
such a device hear a traditional adapted radio advert. 

  
Traditional 48 sheet poster billboards, digital motorway screens and 

smaller target poster site have been used to support traditional press 
adverts (in a rage of publications linked to the location of the Info Event 

e.g. Shropshire Star, Dudley News, Bromsgrove Observer, etc.) 
  

Minority publications have also been utilised (e.g. The Phoenix 
newspaper) to support specific target info events for the BME community 

and also publications such as The Zone to increase adopter awareness in 
same sex partnerships. 

  
Social Media continues to play a significant and growing part in our 

marketing strategy, offering a more relaxed conversation approach to 

recruitment marketing and information sharing. An average organic 
communication on Facebook goes out to 700 individuals and via Twitter 

we reach roughly 4000 individuals per month.  These are supported by 
targeted paid-for social media advertising delivered by ABC and AF and 

through third parties e.g. Birmingham Post. 
  

We continue to optimise our website to ensure the highest of ranking 
relating to search fields and support this with keyword Pay-Per-Click 

advertising. 
  

These activities are in an addition to our normal marketing recruitment 
activity such as Press Releases, Blogs, etc. 

 
Adoption Recruitment and Assessment Unit   

 

Wolverhampton also jointly trains adopters via online training and three 
days of classroom, group training. The program has been jointly devised 

and includes early life trauma, loss, attachment, abuse, adoption 
parenting ‘parenting plus’, post adoption contact, post adoption support 

and guest speakers. The adopter’s feedback on training is very positive 

and they feel it has given them a foundation to complete further reading 
and research. Adopters report feeling better prepared for the journey to 

adoption. Wolverhampton asks adopters to complete training in Stage 
One in order for them to consider whether adoption is the right journey 

for them and give time for reflection in readiness for their Stage two 
assessment.  

The two stage process of assessment has been embedded by 

Wolverhampton and is being tracked in terms of impact and timeliness. 
Wolverhampton recognises that within the period the Stage One process 

caused delay in our overall timeliness of approval. Wolverhampton has 

Page 65



20 
 

been unable to recruit a permanent manager for the recruitment and 

assessment team due to the uncertainty of moving towards a Regional 
Adoption Agency. This has resulted in several agency managers being 

appointed. The tracking of data and the integration with the councils Care 
First System has been improved within the period. Adopters continue to 

struggle to gain appointments with their GP to obtain medicals. In this 
financial year Wolverhampton is developing guidance for GP with the 

agency medical advisor to improve timeliness of appointments being 
provided.  

Wolverhampton utilises an Independent Agency, Social Work Assessment 

Consultancy (SWACS) to complete its Stage two Prospective Adopter 
Reports. The adopters continue to receive a Supervising Social Worker 

within the authority who visits them three times during the assessment 
and attends panel. Adopter feedback on SWAC’s has been very positive 

and has ensured that good quality reports are provided to panel 
consistently and that the Stage two timescales are met. The Supervising 

Social Worker within the team is able to focus on early matching and 
supports the adopters during matching, introductions and when children 

are placed until Adoption Order.  

 

 

Within the period 45 Initial Assessments were completed, 24 Prospective 

Adopter Reports were completed and 18 adopters were approved for 

domestic children. 22 were for mainstream adopters. Two were awaiting 
ADM at the end of the period. Two were for inter-country adopters. A 

couple were assessed as not suitable to adopt, and was not approved at 
panel. The case went to IRM who agreed with the positive determination 

commending the Local Authority’s evidence and presentation at IRM 
panel. There is one couple who were assessed as not suitable, however 

Page 66



21 
 

the case went on hold to investigate the couples wish to access 3rd party 

references. This couple will be presented to panel in 2016/2017.  

Wolverhampton ensures that adopters are provided with a one year 

subscription to Adoption UK funded by the Local Authority. Adopter’s 
profiles are placed on the ABC’s own work share system. Adopters are 

encouraged to register on Adoption Link (Link Maker) and within the 

period eight adopters utilised this and pursued links. Adopters who have 
waited longer than three months are also placed on the Adoption 

Register. In 2015/16 seven sets of adopters were placed on the Adoption 
Register.  

Within the period there were two White British couples waiting to be 

matched with children. These couples have been registered on Adoption 
Link and have been invited to Exchange Days.  

Five Indian and one dual heritage (White British / Indian) families are 
currently waiting. One Indian couple had a child placed under foster to 

adopt arrangements. There were no further children of Indian or Indian 

dual heritage background who have become subject to a plan of adoption 
in Wolverhampton.  As a result these families have waited longer than 

anticipated for a link. A number of the families would only consider an 
Indian or Indian and white British child. They would not feel able to 

consider a child where one or both of the parents were from a ‘Muslim’ 
heritage family. This includes children of Pakistani / Bangladeshi / Middle 

Eastern countries for example. Family finding has been active on their 
behalf and they have been advised to attend national exchange days. 

They have also been featured at National Exchange Days, are on the 
Adoption Register and Adoption Links which is a national adoption data 

base.  

 

 

 

 

  

Page 67



22 
 

Children’s decisions  

 
There has been a dip in the number of children for whom Wolverhampton 

is pursuing a plan of adoption. It is however acknowledged that the 
number of children for whom SBPFA decisions were made 2014/2015 was 

unusually high.  

Of the 50 Placement Orders Granted in 2015/16, 19 were for females and 
31 for males. 

 

In terms of age 32 children were aged 0-2, 14 children were aged 3-5 and 

four children were six or above. 

 

  

Page 68



23 
 

Of the 51 children 35 children were White British, seven were black, five 

were of dual heritage, and four were White Other. No children were Asian. 

 

It is also helpful to look at the number of sibling groups included in this 
chart.  41% of the children were to be placed as part of a sibling group.  

This figure is slightly below the national picture of 49%. Of these children 
there were:- 

 Two sibling groups of three 

 Seven sibling groups of two 

 It was planned for three children to join older 
siblings in adoptive placements. 

 

Page 69



24 
 

Given it is often harder to place children who are older, part of sibling 

groups and children who are of a BME background, the decrease in these 
figures should result in further improvements in timeliness for children 

with a plan of adoption in 2015/2016. 

Rescinds 

In addition a significantly larger group of children continued to have had 

their plans changed from adoption this year.  This was partly due to the 
large numbers of children for whom placement orders were not granted 

between 2013 and 2015. Some of these children were children for whom 
the local authority had not been able to secure an adoption placement 

and an alternative plan of permanence was been agreed.  This cohort is 

made up predominantly of older children, many of whom are to be placed 
as a sibling group, and some with complex health needs.  For all children 

who had become subject to placement order significant family finding had 
taken place prior to considering a change of plan. For the majority of 

those children a change of plan to permanent fostering enabled children 
to be permanently fostered with their current carers.   

 

  

Page 70



25 
 

Matches of children with prospective adopters 

During this reporting period April 2015 to March 2016, 32 children were 
matched with prospective adopters compared with 67 in the preceding 

year.   

Six of the 32 children were of BME (black and minority ethnic) 
background. This equates to 18% of children matched. Of these children 

3% were Black and none were Asian.  

 

Of the 32 children 22 were matched before the age of two. There are well 
documented benefits to placing children as young as possible including 

less chance of adoption breakdown and increased emotional wellbeing for 
children.  Wolverhampton has taken a number of steps to increase the 

possibility of children being placed with adopters early when they cannot 
be care for within their birth family.  This has included the development of 

systems to enable tracking of and subsequently early family finding for 
children who become subject to a plan of adoption. 

Page 71



26 
 

 

The A2 indicator measures the average time between a local authority 
receiving court authority to place a child and the local authority deciding 

on a match to an adoptive family. 

The current target is four months for next year. 20 of the 32 children 
were placed within four months of a placement order (A2) indicator. This 

equated to 62.5%. This has partly been achieved through the extra 
resources provided to the family finding unit in the form of two social 

workers funded by the adoption reform grant 2015 to 2016 has seen the 
adoption service experience even more success with placing both sibling 

groups and older children. This may be a result of both the national media 
coverage of adoption and localised targeted recruitment for adopters of 

sibling groups and older children. 

The Adoption Team has therefore been able to place all of the children for 
whom adoption was deemed to remain appropriate and had been waiting 

12 months or more in this reporting period. Of the children waiting with 
an active plan of adoption at the end of this reporting period there were 

just four for whom placements had not been identified. 

 

Adopter approval 

There were 18 approvals of prospective adopters in this reporting period. 

This is less than the previous year.  A further two families were taken to 
panel before the end of March.  Of these approvals two families were 

approved as concurrent carers and one family wished to be considered as 

foster to adopt carers if an appropriate match became available. Within 
the period a family decided to retrospectively be approved as foster to 

adopt for a specific child 

Page 72



27 
 

Complaints 

Wolverhampton Adoption Team has received four complaints. Two 
complaints were related to one case where birth relatives were unhappy 

with the ruling of a placement order. One complaint was related to post 
adoption contact and the fourth related to delay in responding/ 

commissioning post adoption support services.   

There have been no complaints received by Panel during this period. 

Adoption Inspection 

The Adoption Service was inspected by Ofsted in October 2012.  The 
inspectors were impressed with the overall improvements to the service in 

Wolverhampton and rated the local authority as Good.   

Due to change in inspection framework the Adoption Agency will no longer 
be inspected separately, but as part of a Children’s Services Inspection.  

A separate rating will be issued, as part of this overall inspection.    

Strategic issues and forward plans 

Wolverhampton remains committed to adoption as a positive permanence 

choice for children who cannot be care for by their birth relatives.  The 
service has welcomed the governments challenge around timeliness for 

children who have a plan of adoption, it is well accepted that age at 
placement is one predictors impacting on positive outcomes for children 

who are placed for adoption.  Wolverhampton is therefore committed to 

continuing to improve timeliness for children. 

The Adoption Team have begun to strengthen relations and offer support 

to locality teams resulting in earlier family finding for children.  It is hoped 
that as new processes are further imbedded, this will provide 

opportunities for closer working during pre-birth assessments to ensure 

options for early permanence are fully explored where this is appropriate. 
In June 2016, the fostering and adoption service will hold permanency 

clinics on a regular basis so children’s social workers can book a time slot 
to discuss the available permanency options which also includes 

connected persons /special guardianship order carers. 

As part of the workforce strategy the adoption service will ensure that 
staffs have access to training and development to ensure that the 

government Vision for Adoption is fully implemented. 

A key feature of the Adoption Team’s improvement plan is to increase the 

recruitment of adopters who can consider offering early permanence 

options to children either through concurrent planning or foster to adopt. 
The target for adoption recruitment for 2016/2017 is 25 approvals. 

The Adoption Team have demonstrated the ability to embrace new ways 
of working in order to improve outcomes for children. It is expected that 

Page 73



28 
 

closer working within the region as described at the beginning of this 

report will lend itself to ensuring that children are matched without delay 
with adopters who are able to meet their long term needs. 

As the regionalising agenda is progressed it will be important to ensure 
that the team continues to build on previous success. This will include 

further improving timeliness, recruiting more adopters who will consider 

concurrency and foster to adopt and remaining ambitious for harder to 
place children to ensure they are offered the opportunities they deserve. 

 

Shirley Gounder 

Interim Senior Social Work Manager for Wolverhampton Adoption Service. 

August 2016 

 

Page 74



Corporate Parenting 
Board

Performance Report

September 2016
(data as at July 2016)

Page 75

Agenda Item No: 8



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Key Points to Note
Demographics

A considerably lower proportion of LAC are from BME backgrounds compared to the Wolverhampton CYP 
population.

The number of Looked After Children continues to decrease although considerable further reduction is required 
to bring Wolverhampton in line with our comparators.

Placements

In-house Foster Carers trend data shows that numbers of children placed with in-house foster carers has 
decreased in the past two months for the first time since November 2015.

The proportion of LAC placed more than 20 miles from home, has increased slightly to 18%.

The indicators that look at placement stability have fallen again in the month, this is likely to be due to reducing 
LAC numbers and increased adoptions. However, stability generally continues to show positive results and 
demonstrates that Looked After Children in Wolverhampton benefit from stable placements.

Routes into Care and Ofsted Ratings

This data shows which proportion of LAC were known to children's services in the 30 days prior to becoming 
looked after and the proportion of LAC that are asylum seekers and UASC (unaccompanied asylum seekers). 
Please note that children are classed as CiN if they are in the process of being assessed and may not have 
been CiN for very long or the subject of formal CiN plans. On-going work is being undertaken to identify how 
many children were also known to Early Help services and it is anticipated that this will be available by the end 
of the year.

The report now also shows the number of children placed in children's homes and the Ofsted ratings of those 
homes - of the 36 children currently placed in children's homes, 29 (80%) are in homes that are rated good or 
outstanding.

Assessments and Reviews 

Assessments and Reviews of Looked After Children in Wolverhampton remain generally up to date. The 
percentage of children that participated in their reviews remains at 93% which is lower compared to a 2014/15 
result of 98%. 

Education

The 2015 KS2 results show that performance of Wolverhampton LAC has deteriorated compared with 2014 
across reading, writing and maths. 2015 comparator data has now been updated and shows that 
Wolverhampton performed slightly worse in KS4 but better in GCSEs.

GCSE performance is more positive compared with last years out-turn - with 20% of LAC achieving 5 GCSEs 
grade A-C including English and Maths compared to 17% last year.

Please noted that small numbers can make these measurements volatile. For further information about the 
education attainment of LAC in Wolverhampton please refer to the Virtual School Head teacher annual report.

Page 2 of 11 September 2016

Page 76



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Health

The percentage of children with up to date dental checks was 85% at the end of July.  This result remains 
significantly higher than the 60% of children in the general Wolverhampton population that have seen a dentist 
in the past 2 years which is falling.

The percentage of health checks that are up to date is 86% at the end of July, a slight improvement on the year 
end out-turn 2014/15 of 82% but lower than 2015/16 out-turn of 88%. The majority of children who do not have 
up to date health checks are placed outside of the city.

Leaving Care

Adoption - Adoption timeliness in 2016/17 are continue to perform below national targets. There have been 12 
adoptions so far in 2016/17 and despite 67% being within timescales adoptions of children who have been 
looked after for some time is the cause of the higher number of average days.

The adoption pipeline shows that there are currently 76 children with a plan of adoption, 50 of which have 
placement orders or are currently placed for adoption. The placements and plans for some of the children are 
currently being reviewed and not all of the children will be adopted.

62 children were adopted in 15/16 compared to 51 in the previous year. This is extremely positive.

Care Leavers - The percentage of Care Leavers in Employment Education and Training cohort has changed to 
include all children and young adults who turn 17 to 21 in the year.

At the end of July 57% of 17-21 year olds were in Education, Employment or Training. NALM (not available for 
the labour market) data has now been included and shows that out of 159 care leavers in the cohort, 82% of 
care leavers are available for work with 18% (29 young people) not available due to pregnancy or young 
motherhood, Illness or disability or because they are in custody.

Work continues in this area to ensure that education, employment and training information is recorded and 
updated.

The proportion of care leavers currently deemed to be in suitable accommodation is also included and shows 
that 83% of the cohort are currently in suitable accommodation.

Page 3 of 11 September 2016

Page 77



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

135
778 Children

113
654 Children

112
645 Children

58167 children aged 0-17 live 
in Wolverhampton

22.9% of the total population
51.2% of the CYP 

population and 57.8% 
of LAC are male

48.8% of the CYP 
population and 42.2% 

of LAC are female

58.4% of the CYP 
population and 63.9% 

of LAC are white

41.6% of the CYP 
population and 36.1% 

of LAC are BME

Demographics

Looked After Children Population

Jul-16 Jun-16 2014/15 

Rate of LAC per 10,000 population aged 0-17

75

81

60West Midlands 
(Latest)

76

111
640 Children

135
131

126 125
122 121

117 116 117
113 112 113 112 111

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 Dec-15 Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16 Apr-16 May-16 Jun-16 Jul-16

2015/16 

Inner circle represents the LAC population, the outer 
circle is the CYP population

ONS 2014 mid-year estimate

Comparator 
15/16

West 
Midlands 

England 

Page 4 of 11 September 2016

Page 78



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Placements

Placement Stability

Jul-16

85%
Jul-16

59%
2015/16 (Provisional) = 85%   

2014/15 Out-turn = 88%   
2014/15 Comparator = 89%   

2014/15 England = 89%

2015/16 (Provisional) = 67%   
2014/15  = 67%   2013/14 

Comparator = 67%   2013/14 
England = 67%

LAC with fewer than 3 
placements in the last 12 

months

% of children in same placement 
for 2 years or more or placed for 
adoption (when looked after for 

more than 2.5 years)

Performance shows that Looked After Children in Wolv erhampton benefit from largely stable 
packages although percentages of stable relationshi ps has decreased in the year

0

50

100

150

200

A
u

g
-1

5

S
e

p
-1

5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v
-1

5

D
e

c-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

F
e

b
-1

6

M
a

r-
1

6

A
p

r-
1

6

M
a

y
-1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-

1
6

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

P
la

ce
m

e
n

ts

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

A
u

g
-1

5

S
e

p
-1

5

O
ct

-1
5

N
o

v
-1

5

D
e

c-
1

5

Ja
n

-1
6

F
e

b
-1

6

M
a

r-
1

6

A
p

r-
1

6

M
a

y
-1

6

Ju
n

-1
6

Ju
l-

1
6

%
 o

f 
P

la
ce

m
e

n
ts

In - House Foster Placements

The proportion of LAC Placed with in-house foster ca rers remains high due to decreases in other 
placements.  The number of in-house foster care pla cements has however decreased in the month to 183

% LAC Placed 20 miles + from 
home

Jul-16

18%

2014/15 Out-turn = 16% 
2013/14 Out-turn = 13% 

2013/14 Comparator = 15% 
2013/14 England = 13%

Page 5 of 11 September 2016

Page 79



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

 Routes into Care and Ofsted Ratings

% of LAC know to LA 30 days 
prior to becoming LAC

89%

% of LAC who are 
Asylum Seekers

0.92%

6

4

0

2

4

6

8

Number of LAC Asylum

Seekers

Number of which are

UASC

How many LAC are Asylum Seekers

% of LAC in Good or 
Outstanding 

Children's Homes

Page 6 of 11 September 2016

Page 80



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Assessments & Reviews

Jul-16 = 97%

Jul-16 = 95%

97% of LAC assessments are currently up to date, a d ecrease in the month from 99% in April 2016

Since 1st April 2016, 593 reviews have been complet ed with only 44 not completed within timescales.

Looked After Children whose reviews have been 
completed on time

First Review is within 20 working days.  Second review within 3 
months.  Third and subsequent reviews every 6 months

The proportion of LAC reviews where the child was p resent or contributed by other means since      
1st April 2015

93%
Jul-16

Performance in LAC participation in reviews since ye ar out turn 15/16 has 
remained stable at 93%. This is still lower than ye ar out turn 14/15

2014/15 Out-turn = 96%

2015/16 Out-turn = 97%

2014/15 Out-turn = 91%

2015/16 Out-turn = 90%

Looked After Children with up to date 
assessments

An up to date assessments is one that has been authorised within 
the last 6 months.

98%
2014/15 
Out-turn

93%
2015/16 Out-

turn

35

36

65

106

2

0

3

285

0 50 100 150 200 250 300

Views not communicated

Other means

Had advocate

Child under 4

Did not communicate

Advocate spoke

Communicated non verbally

Spoke for self

F
a

il
P

a
ss

Participation in Reviews

Average caseload of 
LAC children for LAC 

social workers

19

2
0

6

2
3

6

7
7

2
8

1
0

1 0

4
6

2
1

9 3 1 1 0

0

50

100

150

200

250

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

LA
C

Number of Social Workers

Number of Social Workers LAC have had in the 
past 12 months

LAC for more than a year LAC for less than a year

21% of young people who have been looked 
after for more than a year and 17% who have 

been looked after for less than a year have had 
3 or more social workers in the past 12 months

This is an improving picture

Page 7 of 11 September 2016

Page 81



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Education

Maths Reading Writing

Reading, 
Writing 

and 
Maths

GCSEs

5+ GCSE 
A* - C inc 

Eng & 
Maths

Wolverhampton LAC 2015 60% 67% 53% 50% 20.0%
Wolverhampton 2015 86% 89% 86% 80% 51.6%
Wolves LAC 2014 74% 78% 81% 70% 17.0%
West Midlands 2015 63% 69% 58% 51% 14.3%
Statistical Neighbours 2015 61% 68% 55% 51% 16.7%
England 2015 64% 71% 61% 52% 13.8%

KS2 Level 4

PLEASE NOTE: Small numbers in the cohort reaching each key stage can cause results to be volatile making 
comparison difficult.

National results show that looked after children re aching KS2 level 4 in Maths, Reading and Writing in  
2015 performed worse than in 2014. However, perform ance in GCSE's was better.

Detailed analysis of LAC educational performance was presented to the Panel via the Virtual School Head 
teacher report. Please note that there is some discrepancies when nationally published data is compared with 
locally held data - it is the national data that is presented here.

87%
The proportion eligible LAC with an up to 

date Personal Education Plan (PEP)

PEPS (Years 1 -11) 
- Jul-16

FURTHER DEVELOPMENT: Work is continuing to develop a detailed, local, virtual schools report. As that work 
progresses, further information will be reported here.

89%
2014/15 Out-turn

90%
2015/16 Out-turn

LAC Absence from School - 2014 
(taken from nationally published data)

Unauthorised Absence *

1.2%
West Midlands - 0.90%

Statistical Neighbours - 0.97%
England - 1.00%

Overall Absence *

4.0%
West Midlands - 3.70%
Statistical Neighbours -

3.69%

LAC Persistent Absence

5.0%
West Midlands - 4.20%

Statistical Neighbours - 4.58%
England - 4.70%

There has been a slight decrease in the number of PE P's in the month however both indicators still 
show a strong result.

* Children looked after for 12 months or more

80%
PEPS (Years 12 and 13) 

- Jul-16

Page 8 of 11 September 2016

Page 82



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

LAC Health

85%
Jul-16

Dental Checks

2014/15 Out-turn = 81%

Health Checks

86%

Jul-16

2014/15 Out-turn = 82%

There has again been a slight decrease 
in performance since year out turn
however results in this area remain 

strong as a result of improved working 
with the CCG and RWT

60% of children in the 
Wolverhampton Local Authority 

Area have seen a dentist in the last 
two years 2015/16 Out-turn = 89%

2015/16 Out-turn = 88%

Page 9 of 11 September 2016

Page 83



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Leaving Care

Children Adopted

Adoptions

12

The adoption scorecards for 2012-15 were published i n March 2016. Wolverhampton were once again rated 
'double red' in the two key indicators, however, pe rformance around adopting hard to place children in cluding 

those over the age of 5 and from BME backgrounds co ntinues to be better than performance nationally. 
Detailed analysis of the results has been undertake n and is available.

Adoption Scorecard Results 
The adoption scorecard is calculated using results and performance over a three year period

A1 - Average time between a 
child entering care and moving 

in with their adoptive family

630 Days
3 Year avg 2014-2017

(734 days 2012-2015)

Target - 428 days

A2 - Average time between 
receiving court authority to place 

and finding a match

243 Days
3 year avg 2014-2017

Target - 121 days

A10 - Average time between a child 
entering care and moving in with 

their adoptive family (stopped at point 
of fostering for foster carers adoptions)

477 Days
3 year avg 2014-2017

(488 days 2012-2015)

Target - 428 days

Single year performance (2015/16 - Provisional)

A1 - 652 days with 64% of children adopted 
within timescales

A2 - 238 days
A10 - 518 days

2013/14

50
2014/15

51
2015/16

61
2016/17
(to date)

Single year performance ( 2016/17 as at 31st July)

A1 - 584 days with 67%% of children adopted 
within timescales

A2 - 272 days
A10 - 544 days

Page 10 of 11 September 2016

Page 84



[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] City of Wolverhampton Council

Corporate Parenting Board Report

Care Leavers

Care Leavers in Education, Employment and 

Training 2015/16

Wolverhampton - 60%

West Mids (14/15) - 41%

Statistical Neighbours (14/15) - 46%

England (14/15)- 48%

July 2016:

57%

The percentage of children and care leavers in education, employment or training (EET) has improved significantly 
due to a change in the cohort which now measures 17-21 year olds (previously 19-21 year olds).  

The current result is an improvement to 56% of 17 t o 21 year olds in education, employment or training .  No 
comparator data is currently available based on the  new cohort.

A large part of the improvement has been due to on-going work by the leaving care team in identifying and 
recording EET status for all children and young adults in the cohort. Work continues to ensure data quality is high.

% of Care Leavers in 
Suitable Accommodation

83%

% of Care Leavers 
available to work

82% Available
18% NALM

(29 Care Leavers are NALM (not available for the 
labour market) due to illness / disability, pregnancy 

or young mothers or being in custody)

Page 11 of 11 September 2016

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item No: 10



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 21 July 2016
	Minutes

	5 Schedule of outstanding matters
	6 Fostering Agency Annual Report
	Annual Fostering Report 2015 2016

	7 Adoption Agency Annual Report
	Adoption Agency Annual Report 2015 16 Final

	8 Performance Monitoring - Looked After Children
	10 Councillor Visits to Children's Homes

